Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

International Journal of Pharmaceutics



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ijpharm

The mechanisms of drug release in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-based drug delivery systems—A review

Susanne Fredenberg^{a,*}, Marie Wahlgren^b, Mats Reslow^c, Anders Axelsson^a

^a Department of Chemical Engineering, Lund University, P.O. Box 124, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden

^b Department of Food Engineering, Lund University, P.O. Box 124, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden

^c Novo Nordisk A/S, Novo Nordisk Park, DK-2760 Måløv, Denmark

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 January 2011 Received in revised form 8 May 2011 Accepted 9 May 2011 Available online 26 May 2011

Keywords: Release mechanism PLGA Pore formation Pore closure Diffusion Degradation

ABSTRACT

Poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) is the most frequently used biodegradable polymer in the controlled release of encapsulated drugs. Understanding the release mechanisms, as well as which factors that affect drug release, is important in order to be able to modify drug release. Drug release from PLGA-based drug delivery systems is however complex. This review focuses on release mechanisms, and provides a survey and analysis of the processes determining the release rate, which may be helpful in elucidating this complex picture. The term release mechanism and the various techniques that have been used to study release mechanisms are discussed. The physico-chemical processes that influence the rate of drug release and the various mechanisms of drug release that have been reported in the literature are analyzed in this review, and practical examples are given. The complexity of drug release from PLGA-based drug delivery systems can make the generalization of results and predictions of drug release difficult. However, this complexity also provides many possible ways of solving problems and modifying drug release. Basic, generally applicable and mechanistic research provides pieces of the puzzle, which is useful in the development of controlled-release pharmaceuticals.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 34	
2.	Definition of the term "release mechanism"	. 35	
3.	Factors that influence drug release from PLGA-based DDSs	. 36	
	3.1. Physico-chemical processes occurring in PLGA-based DDSs	. 36	
	3.2. Factors influencing the physico-chemical behavior of PLGA	. 37	
4.	Studies of release mechanisms	. 39	
	4.1. The shape of the release profile	. 39	
	4.2. Mathematical modeling	. 40	
	4.3. Studying processes that enhance or hinder drug release	. 42	
5.	True and rate-controlling release mechanisms	. 43	
	5.1. True release mechanisms	. 43	
	5.2. Rate-controlling release mechanisms or processes that enhance or inhibit drug release	. 45	
6.	Conclusions and future outlook	. 48	
Acknowledgements			
	References	. 48	

1. Introduction

Poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) has been used in various areas, such as the controlled release of encapsulated drugs,

tissue engineering (Oh and Lee, 2007; Wang et al., 2010), healing of bone defects (Bertoldi et al., 2008), and in vaccines (Feng et al., 2006; Jiang et al., 2005). Several PLGA-based products for the controlled release of encapsulated proteins or peptides are on the market. The use of biopharmaceuticals, such as proteins and peptides, and of hydrophobic drugs with low oral bioavailability, is growing (Närhi and Nordström, 2005; Pisal et al., 2010; Wiscke and Schwendeman, 2008). As the oral bioavailability of both these

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +46 702 108465; fax: +46 462 224526. *E-mail address*: susanne.fredenberg@chemeng.lth.se (S. Fredenberg).

^{0378-5173/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.05.049

groups of pharmaceuticals is low, patient compliance is also low due to the necessity of administration by injection. The frequency of injections can be decreased by the use of controlled-release encapsulated drugs, which is very beneficial for patients who require daily and/or long-term treatment.

The reasons for the widespread use of PLGA are its biodegradability, its biocompatibility, and the fact that drug products containing PLGA have been approved for parenteral use by regulatory authorities around the world. The disadvantage associated with PLGA is the production of acids upon degradation, as is the case of many other biodegradable polymers. Several techniques for the stabilization of acid-sensitive drugs have been investigated, and this continues to be an area of intense research (Bilati et al., 2005; Houchin and Topp, 2008; Zhu and Schwendeman, 2000). Further advantages of PLGAs are that they are commercially available with very different physico-chemical properties, and that the drug release profile can be tailored by selecting PLGAs with the appropriate properties, for example, molecular weight (M_w) and the lactide:glycolide ratio(L:G)(Tracy et al., 1999; Ravivarapu et al., 2000; Zolnik and Burgess, 2008). The duration of drug release can be varied from hours (Ratajczak-Emselme et al., 2009) to several months (D'Souza et al., 2004; Lagarce et al., 2005). Furthermore, pulsed drug release is also possible (Dorta et al., 2002). Blending or co-polymerizing PLGA with other materials, or encapsulating PLGA microparticles in gels, further extends the possibility of controlling drug release (Cho et al., 2001; Galeska et al., 2005; Mundargi et al., 2008; Vila et al., 2004).

Numerous active pharmaceutical ingredients have been encapsulated in PLGA-based drug delivery systems (DDSs) with proven therapeutic effect in vivo, or have been released in concentrations considered sufficient for therapeutic effect, for example, siRNA (Murata et al., 2008), proteins (Gu et al., 2007), peptides (D'Souza et al., 2004), anti-cancer drugs (Mo and Lim, 2005), analgesics (Yen et al., 2001), antibiotics (Patel et al., 2008), and vaccines (Cui et al., 2007). Among the different forms of PLGA-based DDSs, microspheres or microparticles are the most common. Other types include nanoparticles (Sharma et al., 2007), films (Klose et al., 2008), cylinders (Desai et al., 2010), in situ forming implants or microparticles (Dong et al., 2006), scaffolds (Xiong et al., 2009), and foams (Ong et al., 2009). PLGA implants may be surgically inserted at the desired location, giving the advantage of local drug delivery of, for example, antibiotics or anti-cancer drugs (Weinberg et al., 2008; Xu and Czernuszka, 2008). Nanoparticles of PLGA can also be injected intravenously, and target delivery can be obtained by conjugating an antibody or another molecule with an affinity for a specific target onto the surfaces (Chittasupho et al., 2009), for example, tumor targeting (Patil et al., 2009). Active cellular uptake of nanoparticles is possible, enabling intracellular drug delivery (Cartiera et al., 2009; Hirota et al., 2007), which is an advantage in gene delivery (Cun et al., 2010).

Knowledge of the release mechanisms and the physicochemical processes that influence the release rate is vital in order to develop controlled-release DDSs. The two main release mechanisms associated with drug release from PLGA-based DDSs are diffusion and degradation/erosion. The release rate is often said to be diffusion-controlled initially and degradation/erosioncontrolled during the final stage of the release period (D'Souza et al., 2005; Mollo and Corrigan, 2003). However, many processes or events influence the rate of drug diffusion and the degradation kinetics, for example, polymer-drug interactions (Blanco and Alonso, 1997), drug-drug interactions (Kang et al., 2008), water absorption (Desai et al., 2010), and pore closure (Kang and Schwendeman, 2007). Knowledge regarding these more detailed processes is necessary if we are to understand drug release in detail and be able to control the release rate. Drug release is often preceded by a chain of processes (e.g. water absorption, hydrolysis, and erosion). These processes are influenced by many different factors. This increases the complexity of drug release, as discussed in Section 3. The term "release mechanism" is used in different ways in the literature, which further complicates the picture. Various techniques have been used to study release mechanisms, and the results regarding release mechanisms differ, which is not surprising considering the complexity of drug release from PLGA-based DDSs. Although PLGA has received much attention as a drug carrier over the past 20 years, new insights into processes that govern drug release and new ways of modifying drug release are still being presented.

This review focuses on the mechanisms of drug release from PLGA-based DDSs, and is complementary to previous reviews that have emphasized which factors that effect drug release from mainly poly(lactic acid) (PLA)-based DDSs (Alexis, 2005), the encapsulation and release of hydrophobic drugs (Wiscke and Schwendeman, 2008), and the encapsulation and release of macromolecular drugs in PLGA and its derivates (Mundargi et al., 2008). It is also complementary to previous reviews covering other polymers in addition to PLGA, and focusing on mathematical modeling of drug release (Siepmann and Göpferich, 2001; Siepmann and Siepmann, 2008). Understanding the release mechanisms is key to developing formulations, and we believe that a deep review focusing solely on release mechanisms will make an important contribution, and help clarify the complex picture of drug release from PLGA-based DDSs. This review covers the definition of the term "release mechanism", the release mechanisms that have been reported, different techniques used for the study of release mechanisms, and the physico-chemical processes influencing drug release.

2. Definition of the term "release mechanism"

The term "release mechanism" has been defined in slightly different ways. It has been used as a description of the *way* in which drug molecules are transported or released (Kranz et al., 2000; Sansdrap and Moës, 1997), and as a description of the process or event that determines the release *rate*. Table 1 lists different release mechanisms or processes that have been reported to be the ratecontrolling process in drug release. These will be further discussed in Section 5.

There are only three possible ways for drug molecules to be released from a PLGA-based DDS: (i) transport through water-filled pores, (ii) transport through the polymer, and (iii) due to dissolution of the encapsulating polymer (which does not require drug transport). Transport through water-filled pores are the most common way of release, as the encapsulated drug is usually a biopharmaceutical, such as a protein or a peptide, which are too large and too

Table 1

Processes that have been reported as release mechanisms or rate-controlling processes in drug release.

Mechanism or process	Reference
Dissolution of the drug (in combination with diffusion)	Wong et al. (2001)
Diffusion through water-filled pores	Kim et al. (2006)
Diffusion through the polymer matrix	Sun et al. (2008)
Hydrolysis	Bishara and Domb (2005)
Erosion	Shah et al. (1992)
Osmotic pumping	Jonnalagadda and Robinson (2000)
Water absorption/Swelling	Mochizuki et al. (2008)
Polymer-drug interactions	Gaspar et al. (1998)
Drug-drug interactions	Zhu and Schwendeman (2000)
Polymer relaxation	Gagliardi et al. (2010)
Pore closure	Kang and Schwendeman (2007)
Heterogeneous degradation	Park (1995)
Formation of cracks or deformation	Matsumoto et al. (2006)
Collapse of the polymer structure	Friess and Schlapp (2002)

hydrophilic to be transported through the polymer phase. The most common way of transport through water-filled pores is diffusion, i.e. random movements of the molecules driven by the chemical potential gradient, which can often be approximated by the concentration gradient. The other way of transport through water-filled pores is convection, which is driven by a force such as osmotic pressure (Cussler, 1997). Osmotic pressure may be created by the influx of water into a non-swelling system. Drug transport driven by this force is called osmotic pumping (Hjärtstam, 1998), and is more common in drug delivery systems utilizing other polymers such as ethyl cellulose (Marucci, 2009). PLGAs that absorb a large amount of water also have mobile polymer chains, and are prone to swell. As the volume of water inside increases, any significant increase in pressure will probably be compensated for by swelling and rearrangement of the polymer chains. Transport through the polymer phase may occur when the drug is small and hydrophobic (Raman et al., 2005). However, the drug must enter the water phase, either at the surface or in the pores inside the DDS, before being released. The encapsulated drug may also be released without any transport due to dissolution of the polymer, i.e. erosion. Erosion also creates pores, thus increasing the rate of diffusion. However, there is a difference between erosion leading to drug release without drug transport, and erosion that increases the rate of drug transport. The latter has been reported as a release mechanism countless times, at least after a lag period, which is often described as diffusion-controlled release (Alexis et al., 2004; Cohen et al., 1991; Goraltchouk et al., 2006; Johnson et al., 1997; Lam et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2004a; Westedt et al., 2006).

The three basic ways of drug release mentioned above, with two types of transport included in the transport through waterfilled pores, result in four possible release mechanisms, if the term "release mechanism" is defined as the *way* in which the drug is released:

- diffusion through water-filled pores,
- diffusion through the polymer,
- osmotic pumping, and
- erosion (i.e. no drug transport).

These release mechanisms will be further discussed in Section 5.

However, the most common use of the term release mechanism is in referring to the process that determines the *rate* of release, for example swelling, drug dissolution or polymer–drug interactions. As mentioned above, erosion can be included in both definitions, but with different meanings. Describing the process controlling the release rate is more informative than describing the way of drug release, when it comes to how drug release can be modified. Describing these processes is thus important. However, using these processes as release mechanisms leads to problems: (i) due to the complexity of the system it is not always clear which of the processes is dominating, and (ii) in a chain of processes that leads to drug release it is not obvious which one is the rate-determining process. For example, the drug may be released by diffusion through water-filled pores, and the rate of pore formation may be the ratecontrolling process. Polymer erosion, which is determined by the rate of hydrolysis, *probably* determines the rate of pore formation, although the absorption of water also results in pores. Should the release mechanism be described as "pore formation", "erosion" or "hydrolysis"? And should water absorption be mentioned? How far along the chain of processes should one search for the process mainly responsible for drug release? This is probably one reason why so many different processes have been reported as the release mechanism (Table 1), which does not help clarifying the complex picture of drug release (see Section 3).

In this review, the processes defining the *way* in which the drug is released will be called the true release mechanisms, and the processes that control the release rate will be called rate-controlling release mechanisms. The true release mechanisms are illustrated in Fig. 1. In discussions regarding release mechanisms, it is thus recommended to first establish the true release mechanism(s), and then to discuss the rate-controlling release mechanisms in more detail. For example, bovine serum albumin (BSA) was released by diffusion through water-filled pores. The rate of diffusion depended on the degree of polymer erosion, and was slowed down by the adsorption of BSA to the polymer. In this example, the true release mechanism is diffusion through water-filled pores, and polymer erosion and polymer-drug interactions are the rate-controlling release mechanisms. BSA is released by diffusion through waterfilled pores during the whole release period no matter if the degradation kinetics, the initial porosity or any other factor determines the release rate, which is the reason why the true and rate-controlling release mechanisms should be discussed separately. Knowing the true release mechanism is useful when trying to identify the rate-controlling release mechanism.

The true and rate-controlling release mechanisms could be compared to the established terms regarding mechanisms of diffusion, namely intrinsic and apparent diffusion (Macarini et al., 2010). Intrinsic is the true mechanism for diffusion, or pure diffusion. The apparent diffusion is the diffusion that can be measured and may depend on other phenomena, such as interaction between the diffusing solute and other materials. There are differences between these couples of terms, through. While diffusion through a porous network, causing an effective diffusion, would fall under the term apparent diffusion, diffusion through a porous network is the *way* in which an encapsulated drug is released and is thus a true release mechanism.

3. Factors that influence drug release from PLGA-based DDSs

3.1. Physico-chemical processes occurring in PLGA-based DDSs

Water is absorbed by the polymer immediately upon immersion in water or administration *in vivo* (Fig. 2). The rate of water absorption, or hydration, of the DDS is rapid compared to drug



Fig. 1. True release mechanisms: (A) diffusion through water-filled pores, (B) diffusion through the polymer, (C) osmotic pumping and (D) erosion.



Fig. 2. The complex picture of physico-chemical processes taking place within PLGA matrices, leading to drug release. The influence of processes on drug release and on other processes is illustrated by arrows. Note that some arrows point in both directions.

release (Batycky et al., 1997; Blasi et al., 2005). Any volume occupied by water inside the polymer matrix can be regarded as a pore, and water absorption is therefore a pore-forming process. These pores are too small for drug transport during the early stage of this process, but as the number and size of water-filled pores in the polymer increase, a porous connected network allowing drug release is formed (Mochizuki et al., 2008; Webber et al., 1998).

Hydrolysis, i.e. the scission of ester bonds and subsequent decrease in M_w , starts immediately upon contact with water. Hydrolysis creates acids, which catalyzes hydrolysis (Shenderova et al., 1999). This auto-catalytic phenomenon is known to cause heterogeneous degradation inside PLGA matrices (Li and McCarthy, 1999), i.e. faster degradation at the center of the PLGA matrix than at the surface. This effect becomes more pronounced with increasing dimensions of a DDS (Dunne et al., 2000) as the acid gradient increases, but heterogeneous degradation has also been reported in particles and films with dimensions as small as $10 \,\mu$ m (Lu et al., 1999; Park, 1995). The polymer becomes less hydrophobic with decreasing M_w , and at 1100 Da the oligomers become water soluble (Park, 1994).

Erosion, i.e. mass loss of the polymer, starts when the dissolved polymer degradation products are able to diffuse into the release medium. PLGA normally undergoes bulk erosion, in contrast to surface erosion, as PLGA is relatively rapidly hydrated (Chen and Ooi, 2006). Dissolution of polymer degradation products and erosion create pores. Small pores, formed by water absorption or polymer erosion, grow as contact with water leads to hydrolysis, and the locally produced acids catalyze degradation and causes polymer dissolution inside the pores, leading to subsequent erosion. Small pores consequently grow, and eventually coalesce with neighboring pores to form fewer, larger pores (Batycky et al., 1997). Pores may also be closed (Fredenberg et al., 2011; Kang and Schwendeman, 2007). This phenomenon is related to the mobility of the polymer chains, and their ability to rearrange (Yamaguchi et al., 2002), which is further discussed in Section 5. The mobility of polymer chains depends on the glass transition temperature $(T_{\rm g})$. The transport resistance is higher for PLGAs in the vitreous state, and water absorption and hydrolysis proceed more slowly. The glass transition temperature decreases with decreasing M_w (Zolnik et al., 2006).

The dissolved polymer degradation products affect the system in several ways.

- (i) They are acids and thus catalyze hydrolysis.
- (ii) They plasticize the polymer, which increases the rate of water absorption and decreases the transport resistance of the polymer (Mauduit et al., 1993).
- (iii) They increase the osmolality inside the polymer matrix, and thus the force for water absorption.
- (iv) They are known to be able to crystallize, especially if there are many repeating units of the same monomer in a row, i.e. glycolic, L-lactic or D-lactic monomers (Sckliecker et al., 2003; Vert et al., 1991). This crystallization inhibits water absorption, further degradation and transport (Li, 1999).

These dissolved degradation products are released at polymer erosion, which means that their effect on the system ceases upon erosion. The onset of rapid erosion often coincides with a cessation of the decrease in the average M_w and T_g , as the low- M_w fraction of polymer chains is released, and the effects of dissolved degradation products are lost (Yoshioka et al., 2008). The transport resistance is thus important, not only for the release of the encapsulated drug, but also for the polymer degradation kinetics. Two important processes that influence the transport resistance are pore formation and pore closure. Other processes that influence the rate of drug transport are drug dissolution, polymer–drug interactions and drug–drug interactions.

3.2. Factors influencing the physico-chemical behavior of PLGA

The processes described in Section 3.1 are affected by the properties of the DDS and the surrounding environment, which are listed in Table 2. How these affect the processes are illustrated in Fig. 3.

One method of controlling drug release is to select PLGAs with the appropriate properties. The molecular weights of PLGAs used

Table 2

Properties of the DDS and the surrounding environment that influence drug release.

The polymer	In vitro conditions
Molecular weight	Temperature
L:G ratio	Stirring
End-group capping	Composition of the release medium
Semi-crystallinity	рН
	Osmolality
Encapsulated substances	In vivo conditions
The characteristics of the drug	Sink conditions
Drug load and location	Enzymes
The characteristics of additives,	Lipids
such as salts, surfactants and	Immune responses
plasticizing agents	
The DDS	
Size	
Porosity	
Density	
Shape	
Shape	

for controlled release are usually relatively low, often less than 50 kDa and very seldom above 150 kDa. PLGAs with molecular weights less than 10 kDa are sometimes used. The L:G ratio ranges from 50:50 to 100:0. PLA can be regarded as a 100:0 PLGA and will be included in the discussions regarding PLGA in this review. The polymer end groups may or may not be capped with a hydrophobic ester group, for example, a stearyl group (Johansen et al., 2000). Low $M_{\rm w}$, low L:G ratio and un-capped polymer end groups result in a less hydrophobic polymer with increased rates of water absorption, hydrolysis and erosion (Husmann et al., 2002; Lu et al., 1999; Tracy et al., 1999; Zilberman and Grinber, 2008). The amount of water absorbed and the duration of drug release is highly dependent on these properties (Alexis et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2005), and the choice of PLGAs is perhaps the most important tool in drug release modification. The initial T_g is also dependent on these properties. Polymers with only the L-lactic acid may be semi-crystalline (Alexis et al., 2006). When discussing drug release from PLGA-based DDSs it is important to remember that PLGAs with different molecular weights, L:G ratios and end-group capping behave very differently. It is also important to bear in mind the dynamic nature of PLGA, as its properties and behavior change with degradation. Hydrophobic, high- M_w and slow-degrading PLGAs will eventually become more hydrophilic, low- M_w and fast-degrading PLGAs.

The encapsulated drug and additives may affect many of the processes listed above. Salts consisting of a divalent cation and a basic anion are common protein stabilizers (Takada et al., 2003; Zhong et al., 2007). Basic anions neutralize acids (Li and Schwendeman, 2005), and divalent cations can be used to stabilize proteins by complex binding, or by inhibiting acylation (Johnson et al., 1996; Sophocleous et al., 2009). Divalent cations may also be pore forming, as they probably catalyze hydrolysis (Fredenberg et al., 2007, 2009). Other common additives are plasticizing or surface active substances. The encapsulated drug or the co-encapsulated additives may affect drug release in several ways:

- (i) enhanced or inhibited water absorption and hydrolysis due to increased hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity, osmolality, or due to surface active substances (Chung et al., 2006; Kang and Schwendeman, 2002),
- (ii) increased or decreased rate of hydrolysis due to acid or base catalysis, or acid neutralization (Wang et al., 2004a; Zhang et al., 1997),
- (iii) plasticization of the polymer (Blasi et al., 2007; Kranz et al., 2000), or
- (iv) constitution of crystalline parts of the DDS.

The amount of drug encapsulated, i.e. the load, may be important as the space left vacant after drug release will probably constitute pores, facilitating further drug release (Perugini et al., 2001). The release profile may also be affected by the location of the drug inside the DDS (Berkland et al., 2003). The location of the drug may be affected by the physico-chemical properties of the drug (Sandor et al., 2001).



Fig. 3. The complex picture of the different factors that influence drug release from PLGA matrices. The effects of the properties of the DDS and the surrounding environment on the processes that, in turn, influence drug release are illustrated by arrows.

The characteristics of the DDS, such as the porosity and the polymer chain density, are important (Duvvuri et al., 2006; Kim and Park, 2004; Ricci et al., 2005). Large DDSs result in an increased pH gradient, and the auto-catalytic effect on degradation is enhanced (Fu et al., 2000). The shape of the DDS, in particular the ratio of surface area to volume, affects the release of the drug and the PLGA degradation products. The size of particles may effect the drug distribution within the particles (Berkland et al., 2003). Most of the properties characterizing the DDS are influenced by the manufacturing method (Yushu and Venkatraman, 2006).

The local environmental conditions also affect the processes and drug release. Increased temperature increases all chemical reactions, but also increases the mobility of the polymer and, thus, possibly the rate of pore closure. An unstirred surface layer surrounding the DDS inhibits drug release. Salts, plasticizing agents and surfactants in the release medium may affect the processes in the same way as if they were encapsulated, but with the exception that high osmolality in the release medium would decrease the rate of water absorption by the DDS (Faisant et al., 2006; Li, 1999; Okada, 1997). The pH or buffering capacity is important for the rate of degradation (Park et al., 1995), but also for the rate of pore formation and pore closure, as will be discussed in Section 5.2. The conditions must therefore be considered when designing an in vitro release method. Faster polymer degradation and drug release, and a shorter drug release lag-phase, have been reported in vivo (Spenlehauer et al., 1989; Zolnik and Burgess, 2008), and have been attributed to the effects of enzymes, lipids, non-sink conditions, possible merging of microparticles and immune responses (Grayson et al., 2004; Pratt et al., 1993; Zeng et al., 2005). The collection of macrophages around the DDS is an immune response, and the phagocytosis of small microparticles, and the release of acidic products by these cells may increase the rate of degradation (Anderson and Shive, 1997). The formation of a fibrous capsule around injected particles, which may decrease the pH due to acidic degradation products, has also been reported (Sastre et al., 2007).

4. Studies of release mechanisms

4.1. The shape of the release profile

The release profile is sometimes used as the basis for mechanistic evaluation. Although zero-order release is the most commonly preferred profile, mono-phasic release from PLGA-based DDSs is rare. Drug release is sometimes bi-phasic, but a tri-phasic profile is probably most common. Large particles or DDSs often exhibit this tri-phasic release profile due to heterogeneous degradation (Berchane et al., 2007; Berkland et al., 2003). Small particles and particles coated with a thin PLGA film often exhibit a bi-phasic release profile with a relatively rapid second phase (Fredenberg, 2011; Sansdrap and Moës, 1997). Combining particles of different sizes has been shown to offer a means of altering the drug release profile, from a Fickian diffusion profile and a sigmoidal profile to a zero-order profile (Berkland et al., 2002).

Phase I in the classic tri-phasic release profile is usually described as a burst release, and has been attributed to nonencapsulated drug particles on the surface or drug molecules close to the surface easy accessible by hydration (Wang et al., 2002). Other reasons for burst release may be the formation of cracks and the disintegration of particles (Huang and Brazel, 2001). Phase II is often a slow release phase, during which the drug diffuses slowly, either through the relatively dense polymer or through the few existing pores, while polymer degradation and hydration proceed. Phase III is usually a period of faster release, often attributed to the onset of erosion. This phase is sometimes called the *second burst*. However, all release profiles do not follow the traditional tri-phasic



Fig. 4. Release profiles consisting of different phases. Open squares: burst and a rapid phase II. Filled circles: tri-phasic release with a short phase II. Crosses: burst and zero-order release. Filled diamonds: tri-phasic release. Dashes: bi-phasic release, similar to tri-phasic but without the burst release.

release profile. If the second phase is rapid, there may be a slower phase at the end of the release period (Bae et al., 2009; Han et al., 2010). The release profile may not exhibit any burst release (Pan et al., 2006). Some examples of different release profiles are given in Fig. 4, while Table 3 summarizes some of the explanations of the different release profiles. The term *degradation* is used with slightly different meanings in different studies: i.e. both hydrolysis and erosion of the polymer, or the combination of the two processes. In this paper, except in Table 3, *degradation* refers to the *M*w-decreasing process of hydrolysis, which is the most common use of the term.

There are many possible explanations of the different phases, as can be seen in Table 3. The complexity of the processes or events that enhance or inhibit drug release (illustrated in Fig. 2) makes it difficult to draw any conclusions merely from the release profile. A slow second phase, or lag-phase, may not necessarily be caused by a dense polymer with low porosity, which is the common explanation. It may also be caused by pore closure, polymer-drug interactions or drug-drug interactions that inhibit the release of the drug (Blanco and Alonso, 1997; Kang et al., 2008; Kang and Schwendeman, 2007). In a study on the release of leuprolide acetate from PLGA microparticles, the interior became porous while the surface remained non-porous at an early stage of the slow second phase of a tri-phasic release pattern. It is logical to assume that diffusion inside the particle was rapid and that the low porosity at the surface was the reason for the slow release. Adding medium chain triglycerides to the microparticles made the surface porous, in addition to increasing the porosity inside, and the slow second phase disappeared (Luan and Bodmeier, 2006). The second burst, or rapid phase III, is commonly attributed to the onset of polymer erosion. However, it may also be caused by cracks or the disintegration of particles (Matsumoto et al., 2006). As the pH and other microenvironmental characteristics change with time, the conditions causing the slow release may have been altered, for example, such that the process of pore formation dominates over pore closure. Friess and Schlapp (2002) found that the rapid release phase could be phase II or III depending on the type of PLGA. The onset of rapid drug release was found to be correlated with massive swelling, erosion and deformation of the microparticles, and the increase in release rate was ascribed to the accessibility of new surfaces. One problem with visual analysis of the release profile is that the start and end-point of each phase is not always obvious. Phases may also have their origin in superimposing processes or events that counteract each other. Attributing a second burst release to pore formation caused by degradation/erosion is probably often accurate, however, cau-

Table 3

Explanations of the origins of the phases observed during drug release.

Phase I	Phase II	Phase III	Reference
Burst	Slow diffusion-controlled release	Rapid erosion-controlled release	Loo et al. (2010)
No burst	Slow diffusion-controlled release	On-set of degradation. Erosion-controlled release	Alexis et al. (2004)
Diffusion-controlled release of drug molecules at the surface or in pores initially connected to the surface	Dependent on diffusion and erosion	Dependent on diffusion and erosion	Zolnik et al. (2006)
Similar to the row above	Lag-phase, as the first and second phase did not overlap	Second phase, erosion-controlled	Johnson et al. (1997)
Similar to the row above	Slow and minimal release	Rapid release. Rapid water absorption associated with sudden mass loss	Duvvuri et al. (2006)
Similar to the row above	Degradation and erosion.		Capan et al. (2003)
Burst. Drug molecules on or with access to the surface	Slow diffusion-controlled release	Onset of bulk degradation	Chen and Ooi (2006)
Burst	Diffusion governed by water absorption and swelling	Erosion phase at which degradation occurs	Xu and Czernuszka (2008)
Burst	Diffusion due to hydration	Faster diffusion due to erosion. The onset of this phase depends on the rate of hydration	D'Souza et al. (2005)
Burst. Surface-bound and poorly encapsulated drugs may diffuse through pores and cracks	Slow diffusion, which may be attributed to binding of the drug to the polymer	Faster diffusion through the eroding matrix. Decrease in polymer M_w increases the gaps in the matrix	Janoria and Mitra (2007)
Burst. Solvent penetration and glass transition	Limited drug dissolution. Polymer degradation and relaxation	Diffusion through water-filled pores	Lao et al. (2008)

tion should be exercised when drawing conclusions merely from the release profile.

4.2. Mathematical modeling

A variety of mathematical models have been used to describe drug release from PLGA-based DDSs. Mathematical models can be divided into two categories: empirical/semi-empirical models and mechanistic mathematical models (Siepmann and Siepmann, 2008). Empirical/semi-empirical models are purely mathematical descriptions, and are not based on any real chemical, physical of biological phenomenon. These do not provide any insight into which factors that control drug release, and their predictive power is low. However, they may still be useful, for example, in describing different phases of the drug release, which can be helpful in product development (Duvvuri et al., 2006). Mechanistic mathematical models, on the other hand are based on real phenomena, such as diffusion, degradation and erosion, and are useful tools in the mechanistic understanding of the release process. The values of some parameters may be determined in complementary experiments, or fitted using experimental data. Several parameters may be fitted simultaneously. The validity of a model increases if its predictions are in good agreement with independent experimental data. Predictability has been demonstrated for some models (Faisant et al., 2003; Guse et al., 2006a; Raman et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2007), however, tests of predictability have not been performed in many studies. Several techniques can be used for mathematical modeling. Some examples are: exponential models (Mollo and Corrigan, 2003), models based on percolation theory (Batycky et al., 1997; Ehtezazi and Washington, 2000), compartment models (Murty et al., 2004), Monte Carlo simulations (Barat et al., 2008), models based on convolution (Guse et al., 2006a), and Fourier analysis (Raiche and Puleo, 2006). Some examples of models used to describe drug release from PLGA-based DDSs are mentioned in this section, but as these techniques are not the subject of this review, the reader is referred to other review articles on this topic (Arifin et al., 2006; Siepmann and Göpferich, 2001; Siepmann and Siepmann, 2008).

The most famous of the empirical/semi-empirical mathematical models is the Peppas equation (Peppas, 1985):

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = kt^n \tag{1}$$

where M_t is the amount of drug released at time t, M_{∞} is the total amount of drug encapsulated, k is a constant incorporating characteristics of the system and n is the release exponent. The value of *n* may be indicative of the release mechanism. For a purely diffusion-controlled, non-swelling, and non-degrading system, and a constant diffusion coefficient, n = 0.5 for a thin film, 0.45 for a cylinder and 0.43 for a sphere. Other values of *n* are indicative of purely swelling-controlled systems. Exponents between the values consistent with purely one-factor-controlled systems describe a form of transport referred to as anomalous transport, which may include other types of phenomena than swelling and diffusion. The Higuchi equation and the Hopfenberg model are other examples of empirical models (Siepmann and Göpferich, 2001; Siepmann and Siepmann, 2008). The Weibull equation is another example, and is suitable for sigmoidal drug release profiles (D'Souza et al., 2005). Duvvuri et al. (2006) used three different empirical equations to describe sigmoidal or tri-phasic release from microspheres with different PLGA blends. They obtained good fit between experimental data and the model, and the results indicated that some PLGA blends had a higher density. These and similar empirical/semiempirical equations have been used in discussions on the release mechanism (Gagliardi et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2003; Yen et al., 2001; Zidan et al., 2006) and to calculate the diffusion coefficient (Alexis et al., 2004). However, conclusions can only be drawn if the assumptions associated with the equations are fulfilled, for example, constant diffusion coefficient and no erosion. This may be the case when using a hydrophobic and high- $M_{\rm W}$ PLGA that swells and degrades at a negligible rate compared to the rate of diffusion through an initially continuous porous network. However, more dynamic PLGAs are commonly used, and after a period of degradation, slowly swelling and degrading high-M_w PLGAs become rapidly swelling and degrading low- $M_{\rm W}$ PLGAs. In such cases, the diffusion coefficient cannot be assumed to be constant.

Mechanistic models describing drug release are often based on diffusivity as described by Fick's law. Some models utilize a constant effective diffusion coefficient, while in others, the effective diffusion coefficient is a function of another parameter. Wang et al. (2007) used a constant diffusion coefficient, but included the processes dissolution, drug crystallization and drug–excipient complex binding. Lemaire et al. (2003) used two different diffusion coefficients: one for diffusion from micropores to initially existing larger pores and one for diffusion in these larger pores. The latter coefficient was much higher than the first. According to this theory drug release was determined by the rate of transport to the larger pores, which was governed by either diffusion or erosion. Hsu et al. (1996) used the Roseman-Higuchi model for a cylindrical system to calculate the constant diffusion coefficient, as they argued that polymer erosion had little influence on drug release during the release period. They encapsulated isoniazid in two different DDSs: dry-mixed matrices, in which the drug particles were connected like drug-filled channels, and in PLGA foams, in which the drug particles were separated by polymer regions. The release was studied in vitro at different temperatures. When diffusion occurs through a solid phase, the diffusivity can be related to the Arrhenius expression, and the natural logarithm of the diffusion coefficient is proportional to 1/T (where T is the temperature in Kelvin). Diffusion in a liquid can instead be described by the Stokes-Einstein equation, combined with the Carrancio equation, which describes the relation between viscosity and temperature. The natural logarithm of the diffusion coefficient is then instead proportional to D/T. Plotting $\ln(D)$ against D/T and 1/T led to the conclusion that isoniazid diffused through water-filled pores in the dry-mixed matrices and through the polymer phase in the foams.

The mechanistic models describing erodible systems often utilize a chemical reaction to describe the effect of polymer degradation and/or erosion. Many of these models include a non-constant diffusivity or permeability parameter, which is an advantage. Siepmann et al. (2005) simulated the effective diffusion coefficient as a function of particle size to illustrate the effect of auto-catalysis on diffusion. The classical Higuchi model was modified by Heller and Baker who introduced a permeability parameter that increased with time as more pores were created (Arifin et al., 2006). The same time-dependent effective diffusion coefficient and the constant k characterizing the polymer degradation rate (Eq. (2)), was used to describe the drug release from PLGA films and microspheres in two separate studies (Berkland et al., 2004; Charlier et al., 2000). In a study of 5-fluorouracil release from microparticles of PLGA, a relationship was found between the diffusion coefficient and the polymer M_w (Eq. (3)) (Faisant et al., 2002). Another such mathematical relationship has been found in a study on a small hydrophobic drug (Eq. (4)) (Raman et al., 2005).

$$D_{eff}(t) = D_0 \times e^{kt} \tag{2}$$

where D_0 is the initial diffusion coefficient.

$$D(M_{\rm W}) = D_0 + \frac{k}{M_{\rm W}} \tag{3}$$

where *k* is a constant.

 $\ln(D) = -0.347x^3 + 10.394x^2 - 104.950x + 316.950$ (4)

where $x = \ln(M_w)$.

The Monte Carlo technique has been used to simulate polymer erosion and, combined with diffusive mass transfer, this technique could describe the release of 5-fluouracil from PLGA-based microparticles, and showed good agreement with experimental data (Fig. 5) (Siepmann et al., 2002). Limited drug solubility in the system was also taken into account. This model allowed the simulation of a time- and position-dependent diffusion coefficient, which is a great advantage. The model did not include a description of swelling or processes such as pore closure. However, these processes may be insignificant, considering that the high-*M*_w PLGA (104 kDa) used in the study exhibits a low degree of water absorption and polymer chain mobility during the first three weeks of degradation (Fredenberg, 2004), which was the duration of drug release.

The use of mathematical models in the evaluation of the physico-chemical processes governing drug release makes it possible to explain and predict the release process. A prerequisite is



Fig. 5. Comparison of experimental data and a simulation of drug release based on the Monte Carlo technique of polymer erosion in combination with diffusive mass transfer.

Originally published by Siepmann et al. (2002).

that the model is properly validated experimentally. If the model fits the experimental data, and particularly if its predictive power can be demonstrated, it is very probable that the conclusions drawn from the simulations are accurate. Another advantage is that it is possible to perform quantitative predictions of drug release. The disadvantage is that other possible explanations cannot be completely excluded. A model based on many parameters, which is often necessary for an accurate description, can be made to fit many different release profiles. There may be more than one set of parameters or equations that fit the experimental data. For example, a zero-order release pattern may depend on, and be modeled by, the rate of diffusion and the rate of polymer degradation/erosion. The decreasing concentration gradient and increasing diffusion distance, leading to a decrease in the rate of transport, may be counteracted by the increase in porosity resulting from erosion, leading to an increased rate of transport. However, the zero-order release may also be due to pore closure at a rate that counteracts the effect of pore formation. Another possible explanation may be that the transport resistance increases in one part of the system and decreases in another part (Fredenberg, 2011; Park, 1995). A study of leuprorelin release from one-month depot microspheres provides a good example of apparently zero-order release, attributed to superimposed first-order phases of diffusion and erosion is (Okada, 1997). In addition to diffusion and erosion, drug release was affected by the interaction between the cationic leuprorelin and the anionic PLGA, and the magnitude of this effect depended on the degree of degradation. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images showed increasing pore closure in the microspheres with time, which could affect the rate of drug release, although this was not mentioned. Furthermore, as the osmolality of the release medium was decreased, the rate of drug release increased, due to faster water absorption and possibly the formation of cracks due to osmotic pressure. This is an example of drug release being affected by many processes simultaneously, which would be difficult to simulate, although zero-order release was easily described mathematically, showing a good fit to the experimental data. Tests of predictability using independent experimental data are therefore an advantage.

Unfortunately, swelling is often ignored in mathematical modeling. DDSs have been classified as diffusion-controlled systems, swelling-controlled systems or erosion-controlled systems (Arifin et al., 2006). PLGA-based systems are mostly considered to be erosion-controlled systems, sometimes diffusion-controlled, while possible swelling often is ignored. The amount of water absorbed is highly dependent on the properties of the PLGA, and swelling is sometimes insignificant. However, a large amount of water may be absorbed (Fredenberg et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2005), leading to the formation of pores, apart from erosion (Mochizuki et al., 2008; Webber et al., 1998).

A model is a simplification of the real system, and its applicability and suitability are restricted (Siepmann and Siepmann, 2008). As chemical reactions, mass transfer and other kinds of processes influencing drug release depends strongly on the characteristics of the DDS, it is crucial to choose an appropriate model for each DDS (Arifin et al., 2006; Siepmann and Göpferich, 2001). A suitable model with proven predictive power is an important tool in pharmaceutical development. Mathematical models can be very useful for the mechanistic understanding of drug release, but the assumptions made in modeling are very important, and the general application of mathematical models should be undertaken with care and preferably be substantiated by predictability tests.

4.3. Studying processes that enhance or hinder drug release

A third way of elucidating true and rate-controlling release mechanisms is to study processes that influence drug release. The drug release profile can be compared to the results of studying processes such as erosion, swelling, pore closure, pore formation, drug–drug interaction, and changes in the T_g . Another example of the way in which insight into drug transport can be gained is to study the heterogeneity/homogeneity of the polymer mass and the location of high transport resistance (Fredenberg, 2011). Examples of studies and the conclusions drawn are presented below.

Park (1995) found that a surface layer with low porosity controlled the rate of mass transfer until it cracked. The PLGA microspheres had two glass transition temperatures: one decreased with time while the other remained constant, until it disappeared. This suggests that there were two regions degrading at different rates, and it is likely that the rapidly degrading area was in the interior due to the pH gradient. The fact that the microspheres retained their shape and integrity until they disintegrated completely indicates that the slow-degrading region was at the surface, which suddenly broke. This coincided with the disappearance of crystallized degradation products, indicating that the surface acted as a semi-permeable diffusion barrier, allowing small molecules such as water to enter, but not the crystallized degradation products to be released, until the build-up of osmotic pressure was so high that the surface broke.

Pore closure, ending burst release and probably affecting subsequent drug release, has been demonstrated in a study of porous microspheres (Wang et al., 2002). The permeability was studied using fluorescent probes and confocal microscopy. The encapsulated drug exhibited a burst release on the first day. SEM analysis clearly showed the closure of pores at the surface. In addition, fluorescent probes in the release medium were initially able to diffuse into the microsphere, but not after 24 h. In another, but methodologically similar, study this pore-closing phenomenon was found to be affected by the incubation temperature, as temperature influences the mobility of the polymer chains and their ability to rearrange (Kang and Schwendeman, 2007).

The ability of the additives to act as porogens and affect the porous structure appeared to determine the release rate in a study on the effect of different additives on drug release using SEM analysis and erosion measurements (Song et al., 1997). Without additives, the drug release profile showed a slow release period followed by a faster release period, which coincided with an increasing rate of erosion. Thus, the release mechanism seemed to be diffusion at a later stage due to pore formation caused by erosion. Water-soluble additives increased the porosity and changed the release profile

to one approaching zero-order, while a water-insoluble additive decreased the rate of drug release, making it more similar to the erosion profile. The additives affected the porous structure in addition to polymer erosion, and the rate of drug diffusion was determined by the porous structure.

Polymer–drug interactions were found to affect drug release in a study on the release of amoxicillin from cylinders of PLGA or PLA. Polymers with different molecular weights and L:G ratios were studied together with measurements of erosion, decrease in M_w , and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) (Mollo and Corrigan, 2003). The analyses showed that the presence of the drug decreased the rate of hydrolysis, and the effect was greater for the high– M_w and lactide-rich polymers. The fraction of intact drug released increased with polymer M_w and with the drug load. These findings indicate that the drug, or its degradation products, may bind or cross-link to the polymers. This phenomenon was less pronounced with higher- M_w PLGAs, as there are fewer polymer chain end groups, and at higher drug load, as there were probably more drug molecules than polymer end groups. Interactions between the drug and PLGA were supported by NMR.

Drug release seemed to be predominantly governed by connected channels formed by the presence of the drug, in a study of the release of ovalbumin (OVA) from PLGA microparticles (Zhao and Rodgers, 2006). A rapid release phase was followed by a period of zero-order release, and there was no lag phase, which is common for 75:25 PLGA with an M_w of 68 kDa, as it swells and degrades slowly (Fredenberg, 2004). Initial high porosity would cause rapid release. However, the surface of the microparticles seemed to be non-porous when analyzed with SEM. OVA was stained and its location within the microparticles was monitored during drug release using transmission electron microscopy (TEM). It was found that connected pores filled with OVA existed initially (Fig. 6). These pores may initially have been too small for detection using SEM analysis, and there may have been few connections with the surface. This investigation showed that swelling and degradation/erosion did not play an important role in drug release. It was also found that the protein distribution was not completely homogeneous initially, and release from some parts of the particle was faster than from others.

The transport resistance and rupture of the shell structure seemed to govern the release of cisplatin from microparticles consisting of a core of PLGA and cisplatin, and an outer shell of PLA (Matsumoto et al., 2006). Different release profiles were found depending on the $M_{\rm W}$ of the PLA shell. An almost-zero-order drug release, which was identical to the profile of the erosion of the PLGA core, was found for 10 kDa PLA. This result alone indicates erosioncontrolled drug release. However, when the shell consisted of a mixture of 10 and 110 kDa PLA (5:1), the drug release surprisingly increased between days 4 and 7. This mixture absorbed less water, as measured in the study, and is known to degrade slower. However, microscopic studies revealed rupture of the higher- M_w shell, probably due to high water absorption and swelling of the PLGA core. The ruptures were observed at the same time as the drug release increased. These findings suggest that the shell constituted a significant part of the total transport resistance. The transport resistance in the PLA shell, in contrast to the degradation kinetics of the PLGA core, may have determined the release of PLGA core degradation products, which would result in the similar profiles for drug release and PLGA erosion. The molecular weight of cisplatin (300.1 Da) is in the same range as water-soluble PLGA degradation products (up to 1100 Da), which means that the rate of diffusion should be similar, based on the $M_{\rm w}$. In a similar study, PLA shells of a different M_w that did not rupture were used (Matsumoto et al., 2005). From studies of drug release, polymer erosion and SEM analysis, drug release was concluded to consist of four steps: (i) a burst of drug molecules at the surface, (ii) drug release through pores



В





2 um

in the PLA shell, (iii) erosion of the PLGA core and (iv) diffusion through more effective pores in the PLA shell.

Studying processes that enhance or inhibit drug release could, of course, also be combined with mathematical modeling in order to elucidate the true and rate-controlling release mechanisms. Faisant et al. (2002) used different analyses, such as differential scanning calorimetry, size exclusion chromatography and SEM, to identify the processes taking place before developing a mathematical model that allowed the quantitative description of drug release.

The third technique that can be used to obtain a mechanistic understanding discussed in this section, i.e. studying specific processes that may influence drug release, has the advantage that it provides detail knowledge on drug release. The disadvantage of this technique is that pre-knowledge regarding the system may be required in order to decide what to study. As with mathematical modeling, identifying some processes that explain drug release does not exclude the possibility of other processes affecting the system. However, as in the case with mathematical modeling, when there is agreement between different results, for example, a simultaneous increase in the rate of drug release and the appearance of cracks, it is very unlikely that another unobserved process governs drug release. When there is no detailed knowledge of the system, it is a good idea to perform a general analysis of the DDS and follow, for example, drug release, degree of native drug release, water absorption, polymer M_w , erosion, the porosity, and the size and shape of the DDS. Most of these analyses are inexpensive and easy to perform. The knowledge gained is important as it contributes small pieces to the complex puzzle of drug release and is helpful in pharmaceutical development.

5. True and rate-controlling release mechanisms

As mentioned in Section 2, many physico-chemical processes have been reported as the dominating release mechanism or ratedetermining process. One reason for this is the different use of the term "release mechanism" by researchers. Another reason is the complexity of drug release from PLGA-based DDSs, as discussed in Section 3 and illustrated in Figs. 2 and 3. The true and ratecontrolling release mechanisms are discussed in this section, and examples of studies that support or disprove them are given.

5.1. True release mechanisms

As mentioned in Section 2, there are four true release mechanisms:

- diffusion through water-filled pores,
- diffusion through the polymer,
- osmotic pumping, and
- erosion (no drug transport).

Diffusion through water-filled pores has been mentioned as the release mechanism countless times (Gao et al., 2007; Yushu and Venkatraman, 2006; Zidan et al., 2006). In many studies, this release mechanism has only been used to describe the first stage of the release period, before the onset of polymer erosion (Alexis et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 1997; Lam et al., 2000). However, diffusion describes the way in which the drug is released, while in these cases

Fig. 6. TEM images of OVA-loaded microparticles during degradation. The samples were stained with osmium and then post-stained with a mixture of uranyl acetate and lead citrate before TEM analysis. The 80 nm slice was cut from approximately half the diameter of the particle. Protein distribution is represented by dark areas. (A) 20 days; (B) 40 days; (C) 60 days. Originally published by Zhao and Rodgers (2006).

erosion is a process that influences the *rate* of diffusion. There are also examples of complete drug release before any significant polymer erosion (Liu et al., 2005; Patel et al., 2008; Sansdrap and Moës, 1997). The burst release phase is sometimes said to be diffusion dependent. In a study on the release of a highly water-soluble drug from microspheres, the drug release was reported to be proportional to the square root of time, during the burst phase, which is indicative of diffusive transport (Lee et al., 2002).

Diffusion through water-filled pores is very dependent on the porous structure of the polymer, and is therefore dependent on the processes that promote pore formation and pore closure. The effective diffusion coefficient is dependent on the diffusion coefficient in the fluid in the pores, the porosity and the tortuosity (Cussler, 1997). Pores must also be continuous from the drug molecule to the surface of the DDS and sufficiently large for the solute to pass through. Dead-end pores, too small pores and the degree of connection between pores influence the porosity and the tortuosity. Constant diffusion coefficients for drugs encapsulated in PLGAbased DDSs are more likely to be found in cases of small and initially porous particles consisting of high- M_w , hydrophobic and slowly swelling and degrading PLGAs, with low polymer chain mobility. Pore-forming processes, i.e. erosion and swelling, will have greater effects on low-M_w and less hydrophobic PLGAs, and on large or nonporous particles. For example, in a study of the release of human growth hormone (hGH) encapsulated in porous microspheres of slow-degrading semi-crystalline PLA, it was found that hGH was completely released before any significant erosion had taken place. However, the release of hGH encapsulated in non-porous PLGA particles was slower and more dependent on pore-forming processes (Kim and Park, 2004). Mathematical modeling has been used to confirm purely diffusion-controlled drug release from PLGA-based DDSs. In a study on the release of pyranine encapsulated in a core of tri-glycerides, and coated with PLGA, the release was found to be purely diffusion-controlled, as the release profile could be described by an analytical solution of Fick's second law for cylinders, after a lag phase of 20 days (Guse et al., 2006b). The lag phase could be due to the time before polymer erosion or water absorption had formed continuous pores of sufficient size. However, as the release could be described using a constant diffusion coefficient, further enlargement or formation of more pores did not seem to be dominating processes. Perhaps the rates of pore formation and pore closure were equal. In another study of 5-fluorouracil release from PLA fibers, diffusive drug release was also concluded by the use of mathematical modeling. Polymer erosion was much slower than drug release in this study (Gao et al., 2007).

There are many different factors that may influence the rate of drug diffusion. However, as long as the drug molecules are released due to transport, diffusion through water-filled pores is the true release mechanism throughout the whole release period, unless diffusion takes place in the polymer or the drug transport is driven by osmotic pressure. As the encapsulated drug is often a large hydrophilic molecule, not able to diffuse through the polymer, and the osmotic pressure is often compensated for by polymer swelling, diffusion through water-filled pores is usually the main true release mechanism.

Diffusion through the polymer is possible for small hydrophobic drugs (Raman et al., 2005; Wiscke and Schwendeman, 2008). For example, the small hydrophobic drug ropivacaine, was completely released from PLGA microspheres *in vivo* after 8 h, which is before the onset of polymer erosion. Some of these molecules could have been detached from the surface, but it is unlikely that none of the drug molecules would have been properly encapsulated using the spray-drying method (Ratajczak-Emselme et al., 2009).

Unlike diffusion through water-filled pores, diffusion through the polymer is not particular dependent on the porous structure. However, the drug must be dissolved in water before being released, and this process could decrease the overall release rate. High porosity increases the surface area for drug dissolution and could thus enhance drug release. Kang and Schwendeman (2003) used confocal microscopy to determine the diffusion coefficient of bodipy, a small hydrophobic molecule, which partitioned strongly to the polymer. The diffusion coefficient did not increase as PLGA degraded or when the pore-forming substance MgCO₃ was encapsulated together with bovine serum albumin (BSA). However, the diffusion coefficient varied considerably with the temperature. These results clearly indicate that most diffusion took place in the polymer, although pores were created and diffusion was faster in the pores. The strong partitioning of bodipy to the polymer explained the constant diffusion coefficient, and it was concluded that the porous structure was not important.

The rate of diffusion through a polymer is very dependent on the physical state, and for a small molecule, may increase by several orders of magnitude at the transition from the vitreous to the rubbery state (Karlsson et al., 2001). T_g is above 37 °C for the original polymer. However, upon immersion in water at 37 °C, the plasticizing effect of water usually transfers the polymer into the rubbery state (Blasi et al., 2005; Ricci et al., 2005). A very high-M_w PLGA may remain in the vitreous state for a while before degradation and water absorption affect the polymer. The glass transition temperature of PLGA in a DDS may also be lower than that of the original polymer due to degradation during the manufacturing process and the plasticizing effects of additives or residual water (Passerini and Craig, 2001; Spenlehauer et al., 1989). Drug diffusivity through the polymer is often higher in lower- M_w polymer, as the polymer chains are more flexible (Faisant et al., 2002; Ricci et al., 2005; Wiscke and Schwendeman, 2008). As mentioned in Section 4.2, different mathematical relationships have been found between the diffusivity and polymer $M_{\rm w}$. It has also been reported that PLGA microparticles may undergo structural relaxation after transition to the vitreous state during manufacturing, which means that the polymer chains become closer, and the microparticles become denser (Allison, 2008). This process, which often takes place during storage, may be a source of batch-to-batch variability. As in the case of diffusion through water-filled pores, the diffusion coefficient will be less variable in high- $M_{\rm W}$ PLGAs, with small particles. Degradation will play a greater role in low-M_w PLGAs, and with large particles. For example, the release of estradiol by diffusion through low-M_w PLGAs was found to follow zero-order, as a result of increasing diffusion coefficient due to degradation. The use of high- $M_{\rm W}$ PLGAs lead to release profiles which could be described by the Higuchi equation, i.e. a constant diffusion coefficient (Mittal et al., 2007).

Osmotic pumping is a phenomenon that occurs when osmotic pressure, caused by water absorption, drives the transport of the drug. The nature of the transport is then convection and not diffusion, as discussed in Section 2. This release mechanism is more common for DDSs using materials other than PLGA. However, there have been some reports of osmotic pumping from PLGA-based DDSs. One example is a hollow cylindrical DDS of PLA using polyethylene glycol (PEG) as a porogen to create pores (Jonnalagadda and Robinson, 2000). The cylinder was filled with either 5-fluorouracil (5FU) or fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) dextran and then sealed with a viscous PLA solution. Release of 5FU followed an equation describing diffusion-controlled transport. However, the release of FITC dextran was not dependent on the dextran $M_{\rm w}$, as is the case for diffusive transport, and a linear relationship was seen between the release rate and the osmotic gradient. From the analyses of this DDS it was concluded that the system functioned mainly as an osmotic pump. Another example is a DDS of PLGA (85:15) containing a reservoir space filled with the drug basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and the osmotic agent PEG (Ryu et al., 2007). Narrow channels connected the reservoir

and the surface of the DDS. Water was taken up through the channels and an osmotic pressure was built up in the reservoir as PEG was dissolved, and this pumped the drug out through the channels. Osmotic transport was found to depend on the length of the channels, while diffusive transport depended on both the length and the area. Osmotic transport dominated when the channels were longer than 60 µm. In both of these examples, osmotic agents and pores or channels were used for drug transport. A requirement for transport to be driven by osmotic pressure is that the influx and efflux of water are equal, after an initial period of water content adjustment. The polymers used in both examples were very hydrophobic, as the L:G ratios were high (100:0 and 85:15), and the molecular weights were very high (324 kDa and inherent viscosity (IV) = 2.3). The rate of water absorption through such polymers and thus the swelling are minimal, and it is possible to maintain an equal water influx and efflux and osmotic pressure. These polymers degrade very slowly, and degradation and erosion are negligible during the drug release period. However, most PLGA-based DDSs consist of lower-M_w PLGAs, which swell significantly sooner or later, and any osmotic pressure will then be compensated for by the increase in volume. Osmotic pressure caused by water absorption may result in rupture of the polymer. However, osmotic pumping is not a common release mechanism for PLGA-based DDSs.

Erosion, as a true release mechanism, i.e. drug release without drug transport, results in identical profiles of drug release and polymer erosion, assuming that the drug is homogeneously distributed throughout the DDS. Identical drug release and polymer erosion has been reported although such reports are rare. In a study on the release of testosterone and BSA from PLGA films, the drug release profiles were identical to the polymer mass loss profile (Fig. 7), at least up to 60% release of BSA, after which the release of BSA leveled off (Shah et al., 1992). In another study, the release profiles of levamisole from PLGA discs and polymer erosion were reported to be almost identical (Fitzgerald and Corrigan, 1996). As mentioned in Section 2, degradation/erosion is frequently reported as a ratecontrolling release mechanism, i.e. the process controlling the rate of diffusion, often during the final period of drug release (Grayson et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004a; Westedt et al., 2006; Zilberman and Grinber, 2008). Polymer erosion could cause drug molecules very close to the surface to be released without transport, and the release mechanism would then be erosion. However, as hydration is normally much faster than erosion, it is more probable that the drug will diffuse through pores formed by water absorption. Erosion could be the main release mechanism for low-M_w PLGA formulations, in which a significant part of the polymer has a molecular weight just above the limit for water solubility. However, as rem-



Fig. 7. Comparison of the release of testosterone and polymer erosion of PLGA films. Originally published by Shah et al. (1992).

nants of the polymer are commonly reported after complete drug release (Cleland et al., 1997; Faisant et al., 2002), erosion is rarely the dominating true release mechanism.

The encapsulated drug may be released by more than one true release mechanism simultaneously, and the dominating mechanism may change with time. Diffusion is not only dependent on the diffusion resistance inside the polymer matrix. Diffusion through an unstirred layer surrounding the DDS may lead to a significant transport resistance. The concentration in the surrounding bulk can also inhibit drug diffusion from the DDS. Sink conditions and sufficient stirring are of special concern for hydrophobic drugs with low water solubility, as the concentration may easily reach saturation (Wiscke and Schwendeman, 2008).

5.2. Rate-controlling release mechanisms or processes that enhance or inhibit drug release

Water absorption or swelling occurs immediately upon immersion in water or administration in vivo. This has been found to create pores in the polymer matrix (Mochizuki et al., 2008; Webber et al., 1998), increasing the rate of drug diffusion. However, swelling may also cause pore closure in low- M_w and relatively hydrophilic PLGAs with high polymer chain mobility, as swelling may enable the rearrangement of the polymer chains and the formation of a homogeneous swollen polymer mass without distinct pores (Fredenberg et al., 2011). Water absorption causes hydrolysis, but it also increases the pH inside a DDS and reduces the acid catalytic effect on hydrolysis. Swelling was found to cause burst release in a study in which drug release was monitored using confocal microscopy, pore size was analyzed using SEM and the diffusion of water was measured using NMR (Messaritaki et al., 2005). Desai et al. (2010) found a relationship between drug release and water absorption. In a study on the effect of $Mg(OH)_2$ on the release of BSA from PLGA millicylinders, it was found that the salt increased the release rate, due to increased water absorption and porosity (Zhu and Schwendeman, 2000). However, water absorption does not always have a significant effect on drug release. Song et al. (1997) found no direct correlation between the water absorption capacity and drug release.

Dissolution of the drug could determine the rate of release, if it is slower than the rate of transport. Wong et al. (2001) found that a model describing both drug diffusion and dissolution fitted the experimental data for human immunoglobulin G release from PLGA microspheres during the first 50 days better than a model describing diffusion only. Dissolution is, however, rarely reported as the rate-controlling process, probably as encapsulated drugs have, to date, usually been relatively hydrophilic, for example, proteins and peptides. However, the trend towards more pharmaceutical substances of very low solubility will make the dissolution process more important.

Hydrolysis has been found to be important regarding drug diffusion through the polymer (Charlier et al., 2000; Raman et al., 2005). The release rate and the diffusion coefficients have been linked to the M_w in several studies, as described in Section 4.2. In a study on the release of hGH encapsulated in PLGA films, which normally takes place in water-filled pores, mathematical relationships were found between the polymer M_w and the release of hGH (Santoveña et al., 2006). Relationships could only be established for a certain period of the drug release, and these periods differed for different formulations. During diffusion through water-filled pores, it is likely that hydrolysis affects another process which, in turn, affects the rate of diffusion, for example, water absorption and erosion. Both these processes are pore forming, and depend on the $M_{\rm w}$ of the polymer. Diffusion through the polymer depends on polymer chain mobility and density, which are affected by the $M_{\rm W}$. Hydrolysis is a process that strongly influences other processes that may enhance or inhibit drug release, as shown in Fig. 2, and discussed further below.

Heterogeneous degradation due to the auto-catalytic effect is well known. As mentioned in Section 4.3, Park (1995) reported two glass transition temperatures, one originating from the rapidly degrading interior, and one originating from a slowly degrading region close to the surface. The former decreased with time while the latter remained constant. This surface layer did not become porous as the interior, and acted as a diffusion barrier, until the barrier appeared to have burst due to the build-up of osmotic pressure. The formation of a less porous layer, due to heterogeneous degradation, thus controlled drug release. The microspheres investigated were about 10 µm in diameter, and heterogeneous degradation, with a porous interior and a less porous surface layer, has also been observed in thin films $10 \,\mu m$ thick in another study (Lu et al., 1999). Berkland et al. (2007) found a surprisingly slow release of fluorescein-dextran from non-porous PLGA microspheres, which is attributable to heterogeneous degradation. The interior became hollow, while the surface remained non-porous, or showed low porosity. This morphological development was also observed in another study on the release of a hydrophobic model drug (Mao et al., 2008).

Changes in polymer chain mobility and density affect the rate of diffusion through the polymer, as discussed in Section 5.1. Polymer chain mobility and density is affected by hydrolysis and plasticization of the polymer, and by crystallization of oligomers trapped inside the matrix.

The crystallization of oligomers decreases the rate of transport of the drug, the dissolved degradation products and water. The crystallization of oligomers has been reported to occur (Vert et al., 1991) but, to the best of our knowledge, no study has been performed demonstrating that this process actually determines the rate of drug release.

Erosion, or polymer mass loss, has been reported to start at an average M_w of 15 kDa (Husmann et al., 2002). Erosion as a true release mechanism has been discussed in Section 5.1. Erosion as a rate-controlling release mechanism leads to pore formation, which increases the rate of diffusion. Dissolved degradation products trapped inside the DDS can affect the processes influencing drug release in many ways, for example, by catalyzing hydrolysis, by increasing the rate of water absorption due to increased osmolality, and by plasticization of the polymer. As these degradation products are lost during erosion, so are their effects, which means that erosion could theoretically inhibit drug release. However, the dominating effect of erosion is increased drug release and, as mentioned in Section 2, there are numerous reports of erosion governing drug release, especially during the later part of the release period.

Pore formation is a process governed by water absorption and polymer erosion, as mentioned in Section 3, or may be caused by the release of a porogen. The rate of drug release from PLA films has been found to be associated with the presence of open pores at the surface (Mochizuki et al., 2008). In a study on the effect of morphology on drug release, porous, non-porous and porous particles with covered pores at the surface were prepared. Drug release was found to be governed by the initial porous structure during the first period of drug release (Bae et al., 2009). Pore formation is an important process, as the encapsulated drug is often a large hydrophilic substance, usually released by diffusion through water-filled pores.

Pore closure has been observed in several studies, and is likely to affect the release rate. This phenomenon has been demonstrated, by the use of confocal microscopy together with fluorescent probes and SEM analyses, to be the explanation of the cessation of burst release (Wang et al., 2002). Kang and Schwendeman (2007) suggested that pores may open and close during the release period, and thus alternately trap and release drug molecules. They argued

that the diffusivity in water should lead to rapid drug release, even for large molecules, due to the short diffusion pathways in microspheres, even those with high tortuosity. Disregarding polymer-drug or drug-drug interactions, diffusion through waterfilled pores can be inhibited by low porosity, insufficient pore size (Fredenberg et al., 2004) or pore closure. In one of our recent studies, the diffusion of glucose, a small, inert hydrophilic molecule, through a highly swollen PLGA film was found to be very slow (Fredenberg, 2011). The explanation of this slow diffusion therefore seems to lie in the transport properties of the DDS, and not in the properties of the diffusing molecule. Pore closure is related to polymer chain mobility and rearrangement. Examples of different factors that have been found to induce or affect pore closure, and also polymer chain mobility, are polymer degradation, plasticizing agents and increased temperature (Badri Viswanathan et al., 2001; Berkland et al., 2003; Bouissou et al., 2006; Kang and Schwendeman, 2007; Okada, 1997). The collapse of porous microparticles, and thus pore closure, has been observed when the (constant) incubation temperature had reached the so-called critical softening point, which was 10–20 °C higher the decreasing $T_{\rm g}$ (Friess and Schlapp, 2002). In one of our studies we observed pore closure at the surface of porous PLGA films being degraded under different conditions. Pore closure was especially rapid at low pH (3.0) (see Fig. 8) (Fredenberg et al., 2011). The pH may be important as it may be low inside PLGA matrices, and in vitro and in vivo (Anderson and Shive, 1997; Díez and de Ilarduya, 2006; Ding and Schwendeman, 2008; Sastre et al., 2007). The polymer contracted and separated from water at low pH, and we suggested that pore closure was caused by a hydrophobic effect, due to the higher hydrophobicity of PLGAs with a low degree of polymer carboxyl acid dissociation at low pH. The more hydrophobic nature of the polymer was confirmed by measurements of water absorption and wettability (contact angles). This result is in agreement with findings in a study on burst release from microspheres incubated in a buffer of pH 4. Water absorption was slower, pore closure was more rapid, and the burst release was decreased upon co-encapsulation of a small amount of glucose in porous microspheres (Wang et al., 2004b). According to the authors, polyols are known to increase the surface tension of water which, according to our findings, was part of the mechanism of pore closure at low pH. Our findings could also explain the results of a study on the release of Huperzine A from PLGA microspheres. The rate of drug release and the rate of water absorption were slower during incubation in a buffer of pH 4.0 than of 7.4 (Liu et al., 2005). In our study, pore closure also occurred at pH 7.4, although it was slower. At pH 7.4, the polymer was more hydrophilic and swelled considerably. We suggested that pore closure was caused by the diffusion of mobile polymer chains, forming a homogeneous, swollen polymer-water mass, instead of distinct regions of either polymer or pores. It should be noted that the $M_{\rm W}$ of this PLGA was relatively low, and that the rate of pore closure, or lack of detectable closure, was related to the $M_{\rm W}$ and the degree of hydrophobicity of the polymer (Fredenberg et al., 2011). Berkland et al. found a surprisingly slow release of BSA from initially porous microspheres. The microspheres became hollow with time, while the pores at the surface closed. This was probably one reason for the slow drug release, although drug-polymer interactions or drug-drug interactions could not be ruled out (Berkland et al., 2007). Pore closure and pore formation are two simultaneously ongoing processes, and in our study we found that pore closure occurred rapidly at pH 3.0 and pH 7.4, while pore formation dominated at pH 5-6 (Fredenberg et al., 2011). The complexity of the processes taking place in PLGA matrices result in microenvironmental heterogeneity throughout the matrices. The difference in polymer chain mobility and pH may be the cause of porous and non-porous regions. Another factor that may affect the processes on a submicron level is the curvature at polymer–water interfaces,



B



С



Fig. 8. Porosity at the surface of PLGA films after two days of pore-forming pretreatment (A), and after five more days of degradation at pH 3.0 (B) or pH 7.4 (C). Picture A constitutes a part of a figure in a paper by us (Fredenberg et al., 2011).

which are known to affect physico-chemical properties, such as solubility, according to the Ostwald ripening phenomenon (Ratke and Voorhees, 2002).

Polymer–drug interactions have been found to influence the release rate (Okada, 1997). In two separate studies, the release of L-asparaginase in one and the release of BSA in the other, were found to be slower from nanoparticles of an uncapped polymer than from a capped, but otherwise identical PLGA, although cap-

ping decreased the rate of degradation (Blanco and Alonso, 1997; Gaspar et al., 1998). This was attributed to the interaction between the drugs and the uncapped terminal carboxyl groups. Ionic interaction between lidocaine and PLGA was also proposed as the probable explanation of the slower release of lidocaine than ibuprofen in a study on PLGA particles and films (Klose et al., 2008). The adsorption of drug molecules to the polymer is undesirable, as it may lead to incomplete release (Butler et al., 1999; Crotts et al., 1997). A protein may also lose its biological function due to chemical reactions, such as deamidation and acylation in acidic environments (Houchin et al., 2006; Ibrahim et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2009). Ketoprofen was found to plasticize PLGA by hydrogen binding (Blasi et al., 2007), which may enhance or inhibit drug release. As the environment inside PLGA matrices varies with time and position, so may the degree of polymer-drug interactions. These interactions may be responsible for the release of only a certain proportion of the drug molecules and perhaps only for part of the release period.

Drug–drug interactions, such as the formation of physical or covalent aggregates, have been suggested to be the cause of slower and incomplete drug release (Wong et al., 2001; Zhu and Schwendeman, 2000). Such aggregates are also the result of an acidic environment (Kang et al., 2008). As in polymer–drug interactions, the influence of drug–drug interactions may vary with time and position according to the microenvironment.

The formation of cracks in the DDS may affect the release rate. Rapid water absorption could result in polymer rupture, which should of course increase the release rate. The above mentioned study regarding heterogeneous degradation, during which a surface diffusion barrier was formed, is another example of the probable formation of cracks. The surface barrier allowed water penetration, and then seemed to disappear (Park, 1995). Another example is the study mentioned in Section 4.3, in which rupture of the PLA shell surrounding the drug–PLGA core increased the rate of drug release. Before rupture, drug release followed the course of polymer erosion (Matsumoto et al., 2006).

Collapse of the DDS may enhance drug release, as new surfaces may be created and fragments of the DDS may fall off (Friess and Schlapp, 2002). It may also inhibit drug release, due to a decrease in porosity (Díez and de llarduya, 2006). Collapse is often the result of degradation and the decrease in T_g , and is often associated with particle aggregation (Park et al., 1995). Aggregation could lead to slower drug release due to a decrease in surface area, or faster drug release, as the acid gradient and the catalytic effect on degradation would increase. However, it is not obvious that aggregated particles are particularly densely packed. The diffusion pathway of high transport resistance may still be short, and the surface area for drug release inside the agglomeration of aggregated particles may still be sufficient, and therefore only have a minor effect on drug release.

Many of the rate-controlling release mechanisms may affect drug release simultaneously, and the dominant mechanism may alter during the release period. The dominant mechanism may also differ between different microparticles in the same system. Particles of different sizes are prone to different degrees of auto-catalytic degradation. Cracks may be formed on some particles but not on others. As mentioned in Section 4.3, the release rate of OVA from different regions of a microparticle differed, according to TEM (Zhao and Rodgers, 2006). This demonstrates the heterogeneous nature of PLGA matrices. When a process is taking place at a particular place in the matrix, the effect will be local, and as one process may influence others, regions with different characteristics may arise.

Some of these processes affect drug release in more than one way. For example, hydrolysis leads to erosion and pore formation, and thus an increase in drug release. However, hydrolysis also leads to a lower T_g , possible rearrangement of polymer chains, and pore closure, and thus possibly a decrease in drug release. More opposing effects are given in Table 4. The impact of one process on drug

Table 4		
_		

Processes that may increase or	decrease the rate of	drug release.
--------------------------------	----------------------	---------------

Process	Possible effect	Effect on the release rate
Hydrolysis	Auto-catalysis	Increase
	Erosion and pore formation	
	Plasticizing effect of oligomers	
	Crystallization of oligomers	Decrease
	Polymer chain mobility and pore closure	
	Drug-drug and polymer-drug interactions	
Erosion	Pore formation	Increase
	Loss of catalytic effect of acidic degradation products	Decrease
Water absorption	Hydrolysis	Increase
*	Pore formation	
	Increased pH	Decrease
	Polymer chain mobility and pore closure	
Collapse of the polymer structure	Cracks and new surfaces	Increase
	Decreased porosity	Decrease

release may be altered when other processes or the environment are changed. For example, the solubility of the drug, drug-drug interactions, polymer-drug interactions, hydrolysis, pore formation and pore closure, all depend on the pH, which depends on the rate of hydrolysis, water absorption and transport out of the system. The different factors that influence these processes, sometimes in more than one way, add to the complexity. For example, a soluble basic salt with divalent cations may: (i) decrease the rate of hydrolysis by neutralizing acids, (ii) create pores due to the poreforming effect of divalent cations, probably caused by the catalysis of hydrolysis, (iii) create pores due to water absorption caused by increased osmolality, and (iv) act as a porogen. The situation becomes even more complicated due to the fact that it may be difficult to predict the actual *in vivo* environment. However, the complexity of the system also means that there are many possible ways to solve a particular problem. Each arrow in Figs. 2 and 3, demonstrating the complexity, is also a potential way of modifying drug release, and there are thus many ways of obtaining a suitable DDS.

6. Conclusions and future outlook

PLGA has attracted much interest due to its potential as a drug carrier in the controlled release of encapsulated drugs, and is currently the most frequently used biodegradable polymer for this application. It is important to understand the release mechanisms, and which factors that influence the release rate, in order to be able to modify drug release. Many studies have been carried out on this subject. The term release mechanism has been used with different meanings, and the definition of the term has been discussed in this review. The term can refer to the way in which a drug is released or to a process that determines the *rate* of drug release. We suggest that processes describing the way the drug is released should be denoted true release mechanisms. Processes influencing drug release are important, but should be discussed in terms of processes or rate-controlling release mechanisms, as they provide important information regarding the rate of drug release. True and rate-controlling release mechanisms have been studied in different ways, which are generally based on the shape of the release profile, mathematical modeling or studies on processes that influence drug release. All of these techniques have their advantages and disadvantages. Mathematical modeling gives a rapid general view and fundamental insight into the dominating release mechanism, or the processes influencing drug release. However, as PLGA systems are complex, models require a substantial experimental effort for model validation to make full use of the approach. Studying specific processes that influence drug release, for example, polymer erosion, pore closure or polymer-drug interactions, provides detailed knowledge of the system from which conclusions can be drawn regarding the release mechanisms and the dominating processes influencing the release rate. However, this method may be more time consuming than mathematical modeling, and the complexity should be considered when drawing conclusions.

We have discussed the release mechanisms and processes influencing drug release that have been reported in the literature. Controlled drug release from PLGA-based DDSs is complex, and many processes that influence drug release affect each other in many ways. The effects of different factors on drug release may vary in time and position through a polymer matrix. There are four true release mechanisms: (i) diffusion through water-filled pores, (ii) diffusion through the polymer, (iii) osmotic pumping, and (iv) polymer erosion (i.e. no drug transport). Diffusion through water-filled pores is the most common, as the encapsulated drugs used so far have mainly been large, relatively hydrophilic biopharmaceuticals, for example proteins and peptides.

The complexity of drug release from PLGA-based DDSs makes it difficult to generalize results obtained with specific DDSs. Although research with specific DDSs is necessary for product development, and insuring that controlled-release products actually reach the market, the findings may not be applicable to other DDSs. Simplified systems have the advantage of including fewer parameters, enabling studies on a specific parameter or process which should be applicable in several situations, although the dominant parameter or process may differ.

PLGAs with a wide range of physico-chemical properties are commercially available, and it is possible to tailor the release profile by the choice of PLGA. PLGAs can also be blended with other materials, and formulations can be mixed, for example, formulations displaying a slow sigmoidal release and a faster Fickian diffusive release. It may be difficult to predict drug release due to the complexity of the system, but there are many possible ways of modifying drug release. General, basic and mechanistic research can provide pieces of the full puzzle improving the possibility of rapidly solving problems during the development of controlledrelease pharmaceuticals.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the Swedish Research Council for financial support. We also want to acknowledge Alf Laurell, who performed some of the analyses regarding the *in vitro* release experiment as a part of his degree project at the department of Food Engineering at LTH, Lund University.

References

Alexis, F., 2005. Factors affecting the degradation and drug-release mechanism of poly(lactic acid) and poly[(lactic acid)-co-(glycolic acid)]. Polym. Int. 54, 36–46.

- Alexis, F., Venkatraman, S.S., Rath, S.K., Boey, F., 2004. In vitro study of release mechanisms of paclitaxel and rapamycin from drug-incorporated biodegradable stent matrices. J. Control. Release 98, 67–74.
- Alexis, F., Venkatraman, S., Rath, S.K., Gan, L.-H., 2006. Some insight into hydrolytic scission mechanisms in bioerodible polyesters. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 102, 3111–3117.
- Allison, S.D., 2008. Effect of structural relaxation on the preparation and drug release behaviour of poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid microparticle drug delivery systems. J. Pharm. Sci. 97, 2022–2035.
- Anderson, J.M., Shive, M.S., 1997. Biodegradation and biocompatibility of PLA and PLGA microspheres. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 28, 5–24.
- Arifin, Y., Lee, L.Y., Wang, C., 2006. Mathematical modeling and simulation of drug release from microspheres: implications to drug delivery systems. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58, 1274–1325.
- Badri Viswanathan, N., Patil, S.S., Pandit, J.K., Lele, A.K., Kilkarni, M.G., Mashelkar, R.A., 2001. Morphological changes in degrading PLGA and P(DL)LA microspheres: implications for the design of controlled release systems. J. Microencapsul. 18, 783–800.
- Bae, S.E., Son, J.S., park, K., Han, D.K., 2009. Fabrication of covered porous PLGA microspheres using hydrogen peroxide for controlled drug delivery and regenerative medicine. J. Control. Release 133, 37–43.
- Barat, A., Crane, M., Ruskin, H.J., 2008. Quantitative multi-agent models for simulating protein release from PLGA bioerodible nano- and microspheres. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 48, 361–368.
- Batycky, R.P., Hanes, J., Langer, R., Edwards, D.A., 1997. A theoretical model of erosion and macromolecular drug release from biodegrading microspheres. J. Pharm. Sci. 86, 1464–1477.
- Berchane, N.S., Carson, K.H., Rice-Ficht, A.C., Andrews, M.J., 2007. Effect of mean diameter and polydispersity of PLG microspheres on drug release: experiment and theory. Int. J. Pharm. 337, 118–126.
- Berkland, C., Kim, K.K., Pack, D.W., 2003. PLG microsphere size control drug release rate through several competing factors. Pharm. Res. 20, 1055–1062.
- Berkland, C., Kim, K.K., Pack, D.W., 2004. Precision polymer microparticles for controlled-release drug delivery. In: Carrier-Based Drug Delivery. ACS Symposium Series, vol. 879, 197–213 (chapter 14).
- Berkland, C., King, M., Cox, A., Kim, K.K., Pack, D.W., 2002. Precise control of PLG microsphere size provides enhanced control of drug release rate. J. Control. Release 82, 137–147.
- Berkland, C., Pollauf, E., Raman, C., Silverman, R., Kim, K., Pack, D.W., 2007. Macromolecule release from monodisperse PLG microspheres: control of release rates and investigation of release mechanism. J. Pharm. Sci. 96, 1176–1191.
- Bertoldi, C., Zaffe, D., Consolo, U., 2008. Polylactide/polyglycolide copolymer in bone defect healing in humans. Biomaterials 29, 1817–1823.
- Bilati, U., Alléman, E., Doelker, E., 2005. Strategic approaches for overcoming peptide and protein instability within biodegradable nano- and microparticles. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 59, 375–388.
- Bishara, A., Domb, A.J., 2005. PLA stereocomplexes for controlled release of somatostatin analogue. J. Control. Release 107, 474–483.
- Blanco, M.D., Alonso, M.J., 1997. Development and characterization of proteinloaded poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanospheres. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 43, 287–294.
- Blasi, P., D'Souza, S.S., Selmin, F., DeLuca, P.P., 2005. Plasticizing effect of water on poly(lactide-co-glycolide). J. Control. Release 108, 1–9.
- Blasi, P., Schoubben, A., Giovagnoli, S., Perioli, L., Ricci, M., Rossi, C., 2007. Ketoprofen poly(lactide-co-glycolide) physical interaction. AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 8 (article 37).
- Bouissou, C., Rouse, J.J., Price, R., van der Walle, C.F., 2006. The influence of surfactant on PLGA microsphere glass transition and water sorption: remodeling the surface morphology to attenuate the burst release. Pharm. Res. 23, 1295– 1305.
- Butler, A.M., Tracy, M.A., Tilton, R.D., 1999. Adsorption of serum albumin to thin films of poly(lactide-co-glycolide). J. Control. Release 58, 335–347.
- Capan, Y., Jiang, G., Giovagnoli, S., Na, K.-H., DeLuca, P.P., 2003. Preparation and characterization of poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres for controlled release of human growth hormone. AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 4 (article 28).
- Cartiera, M.S., Johnson, K.M., Rajendran, V., Caplan, M.J., 2009. The uptake and intracellular fate of PLGA nanoparticles in epithelial cells. Biomaterials 30, 2790–2798.
- Charlier, Anne., Leclerc, B., Couarraze, G., 2000. Release of mifepristone from biodegradable matrices: experimental and theoretical evaluations. Int. J. Pharm. 200, 115–120.
- Chen, X., Ooi, C.P., 2006. Effect of ganciclovir on the hydrolytic degradation of poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. J. Biomater. Appl. 20, 287–302.
- Chittasupho, C., Xie, S.-X., Bauom, A., Yakovleva, T., 2009. ICAM-1 targeting of doxorubicin-loaded PLGA nanoparticles to lung epithelial cells. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 37, 141–150.
- Cho, K.Y., Choi, S.H., Kim, C.-H., Nam, Y.S., Park, T.G., Park, J.-K., 2001. Protein release microparticles based on the blend of poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) and oligoethylene glycol grafted poly(L-lactide). J. Control. Release 76, 275–284.
- Chung, T.-Z., Tsai, Y.-L., Hsieh, J.-H., Tsai, W.-J., 2006. Different rations of lactide and glycolide in PLCA affect the surface property and protein delivery characteristics of the PLGA microspheres with hydrophobic additives. J. Microencapsul. 23, 15–27.
- Cleland, J.L., Duenas, E., Daugherty, A., Marian, M., Yang, J., Wilson, M., Celniker, A.C., Shahzamani, A., Quarmby, V., Chu, H., Mukku, V., mac, A., Roussakis, M., Gillette, N., Boyd, B., Yeung, D., Brooks, D., Maa, Y.-F., Hsu, C., Jones, A.J.S., 1997. Recombi-

nant human growth hormone poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)(PLGA) microspheres provides a long lasting effect. J. Control. Release 49, 193–205.

- Cohen, S., Yoshioka, T., Lucarelli, M., Hwang, L.H., Langer, R., 1991. Controlled delivery systems for proteins based on poly(lactic/glycolic acid) microspheres. Pharm. Res. 8, 713–720.
- Crotts, G., Sah, H., Park, T.G., 1997. Adsorption determines in-vitro protein release rate from biodegradable microspheres: quantitative analysis of surface area during degradation. J. Control. Release 47, 101–111.
- Cui, C., Stevens, V.C., Schwendeman, S.P., 2007. Injectable polymer microspheres enhance immunogenicity of a contraceptive peptide vaccine. Vaccine 25, 500–509.
- Cun, D., Foged, C., Yang, M., Frøkjær, S., Mørk Nielsen, H., 2010. Preparation and characterization of poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles for siRNA delivery. Int. J. Pharm. 390, 70–75.
- Cussler, E.L., 1997. Diffusion-mass Transfer in Fluid Systems, second ed. Cambridge University Press.
- Desai, K.G.H., Olsen, K.F., Mallery, S.R., Stoner, G.D., Schwendeman, S.P., 2010. Formulation and in vitro–in vivo evaluation of black raspberry extract-loaded PLGA/PLA injectable millicylindrical implants for sustained delivery of chemopreventive anthocyanins. Pharm. Res. 27, 628–642.
- Díez, S., de Ilarduya, C.T., 2006. Versatility of biodegradable poly(D,L-lactic-coglycolic acid) microspheres for plasmid DNA delivery. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 63, 188–197.
- Ding, A.G., Schwendeman, S.P., 2008. Acidic microclimate pH distribution in PLGA microspheres monitored by confocal laser scanning microscopy. Pharm. Res. 25, 2041–2052.
- Dong, W.Y., Körber, M., Esguerra, L., Bodmeier, R., 2006. Stability of poly(D,L-lactideco-glycolide) and leuprolide acetate in in-situ forming drug delivery systems. J. Control. Release 115, 158–167.
- Dorta, M.J., Santoveña, A., Llabrés, M., Fariña, J.B., 2002. Potential application of PLGA film-implants in modulating in vitro drugs release. Int. J. Pharm. 248, 149–156.
- D'Souza, S.S., Faraj, J.A., DeLuca, P.P., 2005. Model dependent approach to correlate accelerated with real-time release from biodegradable microspheres. AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 6 (article 70).
- D'Souza, S.S., Selmin, F., Murty, S.B., Qiu, W., Thanoo, B.C., DeLuca, P.P., 2004. Assessment of fertility in male rats after extended chemical castration with a GnRH antagonist. AAPS Pharm. Sci. 6 (article 10).
- Dunne, M., Corrigan, O.I., Ramtoola, Z., 2000. Influence of particle size and dissolution conditions on the degradation properties of polylactide-co-glycolide particles. Biomaterials 21, 1659–1668.
- Duvvuri, S., Janoria, K.G., Mitra, A.K., 2006. Effect of polymer blending on the release of ganciclovir from PLGA microspheres. Pharm. Res. 23, 215–223.
- Ehtezazi, T., Washington, C., 2000. Controlled release of macromolecules form PLA microspheres: using porous structure topology. J. Control. Release 68, 361– 372.
- Faisant, N., Akiki, J., Siepmann, F., Benoit, J.P., Siepmann, J., 2006. Effects of the type of release medium on drug release from PLGA-based microparticles: experiment and theory. Int. J. Pharm. 314, 189–197.
- Faisant, N., Siepmann, J., Benoit, J.P., 2002. PLGA-based microparticles: elucidation of mechanisms and a new, simple mathematical model quantifying drug release. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 15, 355–366.
- Faisant, N., Siepmann, J., Richard, J., Benoit, J.P., 2003. Mathematical modeling of drug release from bioerodible microparticles: effect of gamma-irradiation. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 56, 271–279.
- Feng, L., Qi, X.R., Zhou, X.J., Maitani, Y., Wang, S.C., Jiang, Y., Nagai, T., 2006. Pharmaceutical and immunological evaluation of a single-dose hepatitis B vaccine using PLGA microspheres. J. Control. Release 112, 35–42.
- Fitzgerald, J.F., Corrigan, O.I., 1996. Investigation of the mechanisms governing the release of levamisole from poly-lactide-co-glycolide delivery systems. J. Control. Release 42, 125–132.
- Fredenberg, S., 2004. PLG films in controlled release pharmaceuticals—diffusion and degradation. Licentiate Thesis. Department of Chemical Engineering, Lund University, Sweden.
- Fredenberg, S., 2011. PLG films in controlled release pharmaceuticals—release mechanisms. Doctoral Dissertation. Department of Chemical Engineering, Lund University, Sweden.
- Fredenberg, S., Reslow, M., Axelsson, A., 2004. Measurement of protein diffusion through poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide). Pharm. Dev. Technol. 10, 299–307.
- Fredenberg, S., Reslow, M., Axelsson, A., 2007. Effect of divalent cations on pore formation and degradation of poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide). Pharm. Dev. Technol. 12, 563–572.
- Fredenberg, S., Reslow, M., Axelsson, A., 2009. Encapsulated zinc salt increases the diffusion of protein through PLG films. Int. J. Pharm. 370, 47–53.
- Fredenberg, S., Wahlgren, M., Reslow, M., Axelsson, A., 2011. Pore formation and pore closure in poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) films. J. Control. Release 150, 142–149.
- Friess, W., Schlapp, M., 2002. Release mechanisms from gentamicin loaded poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microparticles. J. Pharm. Sci. 91, 845–855.
- Fu, K., Pack, D.W., Klibanov, A.M., Langer, R., 2000. Visual evidence of acidic environment within degrading poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microspheres. Pharm. Res. 17, 100–106.
- Gagliardi, M., Silvestri, D., Cristallini, C., Guadagni, M., Crifaci, G., Giusti, P., 2010. Combined drug release from biodegradable bilayer coating for endovascular stents. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part B: Appl. Biomater. 93B, 375–385.
- Galeska, I., Kim, T.-K., Patil, S.D., Bhardwaj, U., Chatttopadhyay, D., 2005. Controlled release of dexamethasone form PLGA microspheres embedded within polyacidcontaining PVA hydrogels. AAPS J. 7 (article 22).

- Gao, H., Gu, Y., ping, Q., 2007. The implantable 5-fluorouracil-loaded poly(L-lactic acid) fibers prepared by wet-spinning from suspension. J. Control. Release 118, 325–332.
- Gaspar, M.M., Blanco, D., Cruz, M.E.M., Alonso, M.J., 1998. Formulation of l-asparaginase-loaded poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles: influence of polymer properties on enzyme loading, activity and in vitro release. J. Control. Release 52, 53–62.
- Goraltchouk, A., Scanga, V., Morshead, C.M., Shoichet, M.S., 2006. Incorporation of protein-eluting microspheres into biodegradable nerve guidance channels for controlled release. J. Control. Release 110, 400–407.
- Grayson, A.C.R., Voskerician, G., Lynn, A., Anderson, J.M., Cima, M.J., Langer, R., 2004. Differential degradation rates in vivo and in vitro of biocompatible poly(lactic acid) and poly(glycolic acid) homo- and co-polymers for a polymeric drugdelivery microchip. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 15, 1281–1304.
- Gu, H., Song, C., Long, D., Mei, L., Sun, H., 2007. Controlled release of recombinant human nerve growth factor (rhNGF) from poly[(lactic acid)-co(glycolic acid)] microspheres for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders. Polym. Int. 56, 1272–1280.
- Guse, C., Koennings, S., Blunk, T., Siepmann, J., Goepferich, A., 2006a. Programmable implants—from pulsatile to controlled release. Int. J. Pharm. 314, 161–169.
- Guse, C., Koennings, S., Kreye, F., Siepmann, F., Goepferich, A., Siepmann, J., 2006b. Drug release from lipid-based implants: elucidation of the underlying mass transport mechanisms. Int. J. Pharm. 314, 137–144.
- Han, B., Gao, S.-Z., Zhang, X.-H., Tian, H.-B., Wang, H.-T., 2010. Preparation of aclarubicin PLGA nanospheres and related in vitro/in vivo studies. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 117, 2754–2761.
- Hirota, K., Hasegawa, T., Hinata, H., Ito, F., Inagawa, H., Kochi, C., Soma, G.-I., Makino, K., Tareda, H., 2007. Optimum conditions for efficient phagocytosis of rifampicinloaded PLGA microspheres by alveolar macrophages. J. Control. Release 119, 69–76.
- Hjärtstam, J., 1998. Ethyl cellulose membranes used in modified release formulations. Doctoral Dissertation. Lund University, Lund, Sweden.
- Houchin, M.L., Heppert, K., Topp, E.M., 2006. Deamidation, acylation and proteolysis of a model peptide in PLGA films. J. Control. Release 112, 111–119.
- Houchin, M.L., Topp, E.M., 2008. Chemical degradation of peptides and proteins in PLGA: a review of reactions and mechanisms. J. Pharm. Sci. 97, 2395–2404. Hsu, Y.-Y., Gresser, J.D., Stewart, R.R., Trantolo, D.J., Lyons, C.M., Simons, G.A.,
- Hsu, Y.-Y., Gresser, J.D., Stewart, R.R., Trantolo, D.J., Lyons, C.M., Simons, G.A., Gangadharam, P.R.J., Wise, D.L., 1996. Mechanisms of isoniazid from poly(p,Llactide-co-glycolide) matrices prepared by dry-mixing and low density polymeric foam methods. J. Pharm. Sci. 85, 706–713.
- Huang, X., Brazel, C.S., 2001. On the importance and mechanisms of burst release in matrix-controlled drug delivery systems. J. Control. Release 73, 121–136.
 Husmann, M., Schenderlein, S., Lück, M., Lindner, H., Kleiebudde, P., 2002. Polymer
- Husmann, M., Schenderlein, S., Lück, M., Lindner, H., Kleiebudde, P., 2002. Polymer erosion in PLGA microparticles produced by phase separation method. Int. J. Pharm. 242, 277–280.
- Ibrahim, M.A., Ismail, A., Fetouh, M.I., Göpferich, A., 2005. Stability of insulin during the erosion of poly(lactic acid) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres. J. Control. Release 106, 241–252.
- Janoria, K.G., Mitra, A.K., 2007. Effect of lactide/glycolide ratio on the in vitro release of ganciclovir and its lipophilic prodrug (GCV-monobutyrate) from PLGA microspheres. Int. J. Pharm. 338, 133–141.
- Jiang, W., Gupta, R.K., Deshpande, M.C., Schwendeman, S.P., 2005. Biodegradable poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microparticles for injectable delivery of vaccine antigens. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57, 391–410.
- Johansen, P., Moon, L., Tamber, H., Merkle, H.P., Gander, B., Sesardic, D., 2000. Immunogenicity of single-dose diphtheria vaccines based on PLA/PLGA microspheres in guinea pigs. Vaccine 18, 209–215.
- Johnson, O.L., Cleland, J.L., Jung Lee, H., Charnis, M., Duenas, E., Jaworowicz, W., Shepard, D., Shahzamani, A., Jones, A.J.S., Putney, S.D., 1996. A month-long effect from a single injection of microencapsulated human growth hormone. Nat. Med. 2, 795–799.
- Johnson, O.L., Jaworowicz, W., Cleland, J.L., Bailey, L., Charnis, M., Duenas, E., Wu, C., Shepard, D., Magil, S., Last, T., Jones, A.J.A., Putney, S.D., 1997. The stabilization and encapsulation of human growth hormone into biodegradable microspheres. Pharm. Res. 14, 730–735.
- Jonnalagadda, S., Robinson, D.H., 2000. A biodegradable, polylactide reservoir for diffusional and osmotically controlled drug delivery. AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 1 (article 29).
- Kang, J., Lambert, O., Ausborn, M., Schwendeman, S.P., 2008. Stability of proteins encapsulated in injectable and biodegradable poly(lactide-co-glycolide)glucose millicylinders. Int. J. Pharm. 357, 235–243.
- Kang, J., Schwendeman, S.P., 2002. Comparison of the effects of Mg(OH)₂ and sucrose on the stability of bovine serum albumin encapsulated in injectable poly(D,Llactide-co-glycolide) implants. Biomaterials 23, 239–245.
- Kang, J., Schwendeman, S.P., 2003. Determination of diffusion coefficient of a small hydrophobic probe in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microparticles by laser scanning confocal microscopy. Macromolecules 36, 1324–1330.
- Kang, J., Schwendeman, S.P., 2007. Pore closing and opening in biodegradable polymers and their effect on the controlled release of proteins. Mol. Pharm. 4, 104–118.
- Karlsson, O.J., Stubbs, J.M., Karlsson, L.E., Sundberg, D.C., 2001. Estimating diffusion coefficients for small molecules in polymers and polymer solutions. Polymer 42, 4915–4923.
- Kim, H.K., Chung, H.J., Park, T.G., 2006. Biodegradable polymeric microspheres with "open/closed" pores for sustained release of human growth hormone. J. Control. Release 112, 167–174.

- Kim, H.K., Park, T.G., 2004. Comparative study of sustained release of human growth hormone from semi-crystalline poly(L-lactic acid) and amorphous poly(D,Llactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres: morphological effect on protein release. J. Control. Release 98, 115–125.
- Kim, J.M., Seo, K.S., Jeong, Y.K., Lee, H.B., Kim, Y.S., Khang, G., 2005. Co-effect of aqueous solubility of drugs and glycolide monomer on in vitro release rates from poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) discs and polymer degradation. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 16, 991–1007.
- Klose, D., Siepmann, F., Elkharraz, K., Siepmann, J., 2008. PLGA-based drug delivery systems: importance of the type of drug and device geometry. Int. J. Pharm. 354, 95–103.
- Kranz, H., Ubrich, N., Maincent, P., Bodmeier, R., 2000. Physicomechanical properties of biodegradable poly(D,L-lactide) and poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) films in the dry and wet states. J. Pharm. Sci. 89, 1558–1566.
- Lagarce, F., Renaud, P., Faisant, N., Nicolas, G., Cailleux, A., Richard, J., Menei, P., Benoit, J.-P., 2005. Baclofen-loaded microspheres: preparation and efficacy testing in a new rabbit model. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 59, 449–459.
- Lam, X.M., Duenas, E.T., Daugherty, A.L., Levin, N., Cleland, J.L., 2000. Sustained release of recombinant human insulin-like growth factor-I for treatment of diabetes. J. Control. Release 67, 281–292.
- Lao, L.L., Venkatraman, S.S., Peppas, N.A., 2008. Modeling of drug release from biodegradable polymer blends. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 70, 796–803.
- Lee, T.H., Wang, J., Wang, C.-H., 2002. Double-walled microspheres for the sustained release of a highly water soluble drug: characterization and irradiation studies. J. Control. Release 83, 437–452.
- Lemaire, V., Bélair, J., Hildgen, P., 2003. Structural modeling of drug release from biodegradable porous matrices based on a combined diffusion/erosion process. Int. J. Pharm. 258, 95–107.
- Li, S., 1999. Hydrolytic degradation characteristics of aliphatic polyesters derived from lactic and glycolic acids. J. Biomater. Res. 48, 342–353.
- Li, S., McCarthy, S., 1999. Further investigations on the hydrolytic degradation of poly (DL-lactide). Biomaterial 20, 35–44.
- Li, L., Schwendeman, S.P., 2005. Mapping neutral microclimate pH in PLGA microspheres. J. Control. Release 101, 163–173.
- Liu, F.-I., Kuo, J.H., Sung, K.C., Hu, O.Y.P., 2003. Biodegradable polymeric microspheres for nalbuphine prodrug controlled delivery: in vitro characterization and in vivo pharmacokinetic studies. Int. J. Pharm. 257, 23–31.
- Liu, W.H., Song, J.L., Liu, K., Chu, D.F., Li, Y.X., 2005. Preparation and in vitro and in vivo release studies of Huperzine A loaded microspheres for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. J. Control. Release 107, 417–427.
- Loo, S.C.J., Tan, Z.Y.S., Chow, Y.J., Lin, S.L.I., 2010. Drug release from irradiated PLGA and PLLA multi-layered films. J. Pharm. Sci. 99, 3060–3071.
- Lu, L., Garcia, C.A., Mikos, A.G., 1999. *In vitro* degradation of thin poly(D,L-lactic-coglycolic acid) films. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 46, 236–244. Luan, X., Bodmeier, R., 2006. Modification of the tri-phasic drug release pattern
- Luan, X., Bodmeier, R., 2006. Modification of the tri-phasic drug release pattern of leuprolide acetate-loaded poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microparticles. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 63, 205–214.
- Macarini, L., Stoppino, L.P., Milillo, P., Ciuffreda, P., Fortunato, F., Vinci, R., 2010. Diffusion-weighted MRI with parallel imaging technique: apparent diffusion coefficient determination in normal kidneys and in nonmalignant renal diseases. Clin. Imaging 34, 432–440.
- Mao, S., Shi, Y., Li, L., Xu, J., Schaper, A., Kissel, T., 2008. Effects of process and formulation parameters on characteristics and internal morphology of ply(p,Llactide-co-glycolide) microspheres formed by solvent evaporation method. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 68, 214–223.
- Marucci, M., 2009. Characterization of the mechanisms of drug release from polymer-coated formulations using experiments and modelling. Doctoral Dissertation. Lund University, Lund, Sweden.
- Matsumoto, A., Matsukawa, Y., Horikiri, Y., Suzuki, T., 2006. Rupture and drug release characteristics of multi-reservoir type microspheres with poly(pL-lactide-coglycolide) and poly(pL-lactide). Int. J. Pharm. 327, 110–116.
- Matsumoto, A., Matsukawa, Y., Suzuki, T., Yoshino, H., 2005. Drug release characteristics of multi-reservoir type microspheres with poly(DL-lactide-co-glycolide) and poly(DL-lactide). J. Control. Release 106, 172–180.
- Mauduit, J., Bukh, N., Vert, M., 1993. Gentamycin/poly(lactic acid) blends aimed at sustained release local antibiotic therapy administered per-operatively. III. The case of gentamycin sulphate in films prepared from high and low molecular weight poly(DL-lactic acids). J. Control. Release 25, 43–49.
- Messaritaki, A., Black, S.J., van der Walle, C.F., Rigby, S.P., 2005. NMR and confocal microscopy studies of the mechanisms of burst drug release PLGA microspheres. J. Control. Release 108, 271–281.
- Mittal, G., Sahana, D.K., Bhardwaj, V., Ravi Kumar, M.N.V., 2007. Estradiol loaded PLGA nanoparticles for oral administration: effect of polymer molecular weight and copolymer composition on release behaviour in vitro an in vivo. J. Control. Release 119, 77–85.
- Mo, Y., Lim, L.-Y., 2005. Paclitaxel-loaded PLGA nanoparticles: potentiation of anticancer activity by surface conjugation with wheat germ agglutinin. J. Control. Release 108, 244–262.
- Mochizuki, A., Niikawa, T., Omura, I., Yamashita, S., 2008. Controlled Release of argatroban from PLA film—effect of hydroxylesters as additives on enhancement of drug release. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 108, 3353–3360.
- Mollo, A.R., Corrigan, O.I., 2003. Effect of poly-hydroxy aliphatic ester polymer type on amoxicillin release from cylindrical compacts. Int. J. Pharm. 268, 71– 79.
- Mundargi, R.C., Babu, V.R., Rangaswamy, V., Patel, P., Aminabhavi, T.M., 2008. Nano/micro technologies for delivering macromolecular therapeutics using

poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) and its derivatives. J. Control. Release 125, 193–209.

- Murata, N., Takashima, Y., Toyoshima, K., Yamamoto, M., Okada, H., 2008. Anti-tumor effects of anti-VEGF siRNA encapsulated with PLGA microspheres in mice. J. Control. Release 126, 246–254.
- Murty, S.B., Wei, Q., Thanoo, B.C., DeLuca, P.P., 2004. In vivo release kinetics of octreotide acetate from experimental polymeric microsphere formulations using oil/water and oil/oil processes. AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 5 (article 49).
- Närhi, M., Nordström, K., 2005. Manufacturing, regulatory and commercial challenges of biopharmaceuticals production: a Finnish perspective. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 59, 397–405.
- Oh, S.H., Lee, J.H., 2007. Fabrication and characterization of hydrophilized porous PLGA nerve guide conduits by a modified immersion precipitation method. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 80A, 530–538.
- Okada, H., 1997. One- and three month release injectable microspheres of the LH–RH superagonist leuprorelin acetate. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 28, 43–70.
- Ong, B.Y.S., Ranganath, S.H., Lee, L.Y., Lu, F., Lee, H.-S., Sahinidis, N.V., Wang, C.-H., 2009. Paclitaxel delivery from PLGA foams for controlled release in post-surgical chemotherapy against glioblastoma multiforme. Biomaterial 30, 3189–3196.
- Pan, C.J., Tang, J.J., Weng, Y.J., Wang, J., Huang, N., 2006. Preparation, characterization and anticoagulation of curcumin-eluting controlled biodegradable coating stents. J. Control. Release 116, 42–49.
- Park, T.G., 1994. Degradation of poly(D,L-lactic acid) microspheres: effect of molecular weight. J. Control. Release 30, 161–173.
- Park, T.G., 1995. Degradation of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres: effect of copolymer composition. Biomaterials 16, 1123–1130.
- Park, T.G., Lu, W., Crotts, G., 1995. Importance of in vitro experimental conditions on protein release kinetics, stability and polymer degradation in protein encapsulated poly(D,L-lactic-acid-co-glycolic acid) microspheres. J. Control. Release 33, 211–222.
- Passerini, N., Craig, D.Q.M., 2001. An investigation into the effects of residual water on the glass transition temperature of polylactide microspheres using modulated temperature DSC. J. Control. Release 73, 111–115.
- Patel, P., Mundrargi, R.C., Babu, V.R., Jain, D., Rangaswamy, V., Aminabhavi, T.M., 2008. Microencapsulation of doxycycline into poly(lactide-co-glycolide) by spray drying technique: effect of polymer molecular weight on process parameters. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 108, 4038–4046.
- Patil, Y., Sadhukha, T., Ma, L., Panyam, J., 2009. Nanoparticle-mediated simultaneous and targeted delivery of paclitaxel and tariquidar overcomes tumor drug resistance. J. Control. Release 136, 21–29.
- Peppas, N.A., 1985. Analysis of Fickian and non-Fickian drug release from polymers. Pharm. Acta Helv. 60, 110-111.
- Perugini, P., Genta, I., Conti, B., Modena, T., Pavanetto, F., 2001. Long-term release of clodronate from biodegradable microspheres. AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 2 (article 10).
- Pisal, D.S., Kosloski, M.P., Baly-iyer, S.V., 2010. Delivery of therapeutic proteins. J. Pharm. Sci. 99, 2557–2575.
- Pratt, L., Chu, C., Auer, J., Kim, J., Zollweg, J.A., Chu, C.C., 1993. The effect of ionic electrolytes on hydrolytic degradation of biodegradable polymer: mechanical and thermodynamic properties and molecular modeling. J. Polym. Sci.: Part A: Polym. Chem. 31, 1759–1769.
- Raiche, A.T., Puleo, D.A., 2006. Modulated release of bioactive protein from multilayered blended PLGA coatings. Int. J. Pharm. 311, 40–49.
 Raman, C., Berkland, C., Kim, K., Pack, D.W., 2005. Modeling small-molecular release
- Raman, C., Berkland, C., Kim, K., Pack, D.W., 2005. Modeling small-molecular release from PLG microspheres: effects of polymer degradation and nonuniform drug distribution. J. Control. Release 103, 149–158.
- Ratajczak-Emselme, M., Estebe, J.-P., Dollo, G., Chevanne, F., Bec, D., Malinovsky, J.-M., Ecoffey, C., Corre, P.L., 2009. Epidural, intrathecal and plasma pharmacokinetics study of epidural ropivacaine in PLGA-microspheres in sheep model. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 72, 54–61.
- Ratke, L., Voorhees, P.W., 2002. Growth and Coursing: Ripening in Material Processing. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York.
- Ravivarapu, H.B., Burton, K., DeLuca, P.P., 2000. Polymer and microsphere blending to alter the release of a peptide from PLGA microspheres. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 50, 263–270.
- Ricci, M., Blasi, P., Giovagnoli, S., Rossi, C., Macchiarulo, G., Luca, G., Basta, G., Calafiore, R., 2005. Ketoprofen controlled release from composite microcapsules for cell encapsulation: effect on post-transplant acute inflammation. J. Control. Release 107, 395–407.
- Ryu, W., Huang, Z., Prinz, F.B., Goodman, S.B., Fasching, R., 2007. Biodegradable micro-osmotic pump for long-term and controlled release of basic fibroblast growth factor. J. Control. Release 124, 98–105.
- Sandor, M., Enscore, D., Weston, P., Mathiowitz, E., 2001. Effect of protein molecular weight on release from micron-sized PLGA microspheres. J. Control. Release 76, 297–311.
- Sansdrap, P., Moës, A.J., 1997. In vitro evaluation of the hydrolytic degradation of dispersed and aggregated poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. J. Control. Release 43, 47–58.
- Santoveña, A., García, J.T., Oliva, A., Llabrés, M., Fariña, J.B., 2006. A mathematical model for interpreting in vitro rhGH release form laminar implants. Int. J. Pharm. 309, 38–43.
- Sastre, R.L., Olmo, R., Teijón, C., Muñíz, E., Teijón, J.M., Blanco, M.D., 2007. 5-Fluorouracil plasma levels and biodegradation of subcutaneously injected drug-loaded microspheres prepared by spry-drying poly(D,L-lactide) and poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) polymers. Int. J. Pharm. 338, 180–190.

- Sckliecker, G., Schmidt, C., Fuchs, S., Wombacher, R., Kissel, T., 2003. Hydrolytic degradation of poly(lactide-co-glycolide) films: effect of oligomers on degradation rate and crystallinity. Int. J. Pharm. 266, 39–49.
- Shah, S.S., Cha, Y., Pitt, C.G., 1992. Poly(glycolic acid-co-DL-lactic acid): diffusion or degradation controlled drug delivery. J. Control. Release 18, 261–270.
- Sharma, G., Italia, J.L., Sonaje, K., Tikoo, K., Ravi Kumar, M.N.V., 2007. Biodegradable in situ gelling system for subcutaneous administration of ellagic acid and ellagic acid loaded nanoparticles: evaluation of their antioxidant potential against cyclosporine induced nephrotoxicity in rats. J. Control. Release 118, 27–37.
- Shenderova, A., Burke, T.G., Schwendeman, S.P., 1999. The acidic microclimate in poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres stabilizes camptothecins. Pharm. Res. 16, 241–248.
- Siepmann, J., Elkharraz, K., Sipmann, F., Klose, D., 2005. How autocatalysis accelerated drug release from PLGA-based microparticles: a quantitative treatment. Biomacromolecules 6, 2312–2319.
- Siepmann, J., Faisant, N., Benoit, J.-P., 2002. A new mathematical model quantifying drug release from biodegradable microparticles using Monte Carlo simulations. Pharm. Res. 19, 1885–1893.
- Siepmann, J., Göpferich, A., 2001. Mathematical modelling of bioerodible, polymeric drug delivery systems. Adv. Drug. Deliv. Rev. 48, 229–247.
- Siepmann, J., Siepmann, F., 2008. Mathematical modeling of drug delivery. Int. J. Pharm. 364, 328-343.
- Song, C.X., Laghasetwar, V., Levy, R.J., 1997. Controlled release of U-86983 form double-layer biodegradable matrices: effect of additives on release mechanism and kinetics. J. Control. Release 45, 177–192.
- Sophocleous, A.M., Zhang, Y., Schwendeman, S.P., 2009. A new class of inhibitors of peptide sorption and acylation in PLGA. J. Control. Release 137, 179–184.
- Spenlehauer, G., Vert, M., Benoit, J.P., Boddaert, A., 1989. In vitro and in vivo degradation of poly(D,L-lactide/glycolide) type microspheres made by solvent evaporation method. Biomaterials 10, 557–563.
- Sun, Y., Wang, J.-C., Zhang, X., Zhang, Z., Zheng, Y., Chen, D.-W., Zhang, Q., 2008. Synchronic release of two hormonal contraceptives for about one month from the PLGA microspheres: in vitro and in vivo studies. J. Control. Release 129, 192–199.
- Takada, S., Yamagata, Y., Misaki, M., Taira, K., Kurokawa, T., 2003. Sustained release of human growth hormone from microcapsules prepared be a solvent evaporation technique. J. Control. Release 88, 229–242.
- Tracy, M.A., Ward, K.L., Firouzabadian, L., Wang, Y., Dong, N., Qian, R., Zhang, Y., 1999. Factors affecting the degradation rate of poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres in vivo and in vitro. Biomaterials 20, 1057–1062.
- Vert, M., Li, S., Garreau, H., 1991. More about degradation of LA/GA-derived matrices in aqueous media. J. Control. Release 16, 15–26.
- Vila, A., Gill, H., McCallion, O., Alonso, M.J., 2004. Transport of PLA-PEG particles across the nasal mucosa: effect of particle size and PEG coating density. J. Control. Release 98, 231–244.
- Wang, F., Saidel, G.M., Gao, J., 2007. A mechanistic model of controlled drug release from polymer millirods: effects of excipients and complex binding. J. Control. Release 119, 111–120.
- Wang, X., Sui, S., Yan, Y., Zhang, R., 2010. Design and fabrication of PLGA sandwiched cell/fibrin constructs for complex organ regeneration. J. Bioactive Compatible Polym. 25, 229–240.
- Wang, L., Venkatraman, S., Kleiner, L., 2004a. Drug release from injectable depots: two different in vitro mechanisms. J. Control. Release 99, 207–216.
 Wang, J., Wang, B.M., Schwendeman, S.P., 2002. Characterization of the initial burst
- Wang, J., Wang, B.M., Schwendeman, S.P., 2002. Characterization of the initial burst release of a model peptide from poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. J. Control. Release 82, 289–307.
- Wang, J., Wang, B.M., Schwendeman, S.P., 2004b. Mechanistic evaluation of the glucose-induced reduction in initial burst release of octreotide acetate from poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres. Biomaterial 25, 1919–1927.
- Webber, W.L., Lago, F., Thanos, C., Mathowitz, E., 1998. Characterization of soluble, salt-loaded, degradable PLGA films and their release of tetracycline. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 41, 18–29.
- Weinberg, B.D., Blanco, E., Gao, J., 2008. Polymer implants for intratumoral drug delivery and cancer therapy. J. Pharm. Sci. 97, 1681–1702.
- Westedt, U., Wittmar, M., Hellwig, M., Hanefeld, P., Greiner, A., Schaper, A.K., Kissel, T., 2006. Paclitaxel releasing films consisting of poly(vinyl alcohol)-graftpoly(lactide-co-glycolide) and their potential as biodegradable stent coatings. J. Control. Release 111, 235–246.
- Wiscke, C., Schwendeman, S.P., 2008. Principles of encapsulating hydrophobic drugs in PLA/PLGA microparticles. Int. J. Pharm. 364, 298–327.
- Wong, H.M., Wang, J.J., Wang, C.-H., 2001. In vitro sustained release of human immunoglobulin G from biodegradable microspheres. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 40, 933–948.
- Xiong, Y., Zeng, Y.-S., Zeng, C.-G., Du, B.-L., He, L.-M., Quan, D.-P., Zhang, W., Wang, J.-M., Wu, J.-L., Li, Y., Li, J., 2009. Synaptic transmission of neural stem cells seeded in 3-dimensional PLGA scaffolds. Biomaterials 30, 3711–3722.
- Xu, Q., Czernuszka, J.T., 2008. Controlled release of amoxicillin hydroxyapatitecoated poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres. J. Control. Release 127, 146–153.
- Yamaguchi, Y., Takenaga, M., Kitagawa, A., Ogawa, Y., Mizushima, Y., Igarashi, R., 2002. Insulin-loaded biodegradable PLGA microcapsules: initial burst release controlled by hydrophilic additives. J. Control. Release 81, 235–249.
- Yen, S.-Y., Sung, K.C., Wang, J.-J., Hu, O.Y.-P., 2001. Controlled release of nalbuphine propionate from biodegradable microspheres: in vitro and in vivo studies. Int. J. Pharm. 220, 91–99.

- Yoshioka, T., Kawazoe, N., Tateishi, T., Chen, G., 2008. In vitro evaluation of biodegradation of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) sponges. Biomaterials 29, 3438– 3443.
- Yushu, H., Venkatraman, S., 2006. The effect of process variables on the morphology and release characteristics of protein-loaded PLGA particles. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 101, 3053–3061.
- Zeng, J., Yang, L., Liang, Q., Zhang, X., Guan, H., Xu, X., Chen, X., Jing, X., 2005. Influence of the drug compatibility with polymer solution on the release kinetics of electrospun fiber formulation. J. Control. Release 105, 43–51.
- Zhang, Y., Sophocleous, A.M., Schwendeman, S.P., 2009. Inhibition of peptide acylation in PLGA microsphere with water-soluble divalent cationic salts. Pharm. Res. 26, 1986–1994.
- Zhang, Y., Zale, S., Sawer, L., Bernstein, H., 1997. Effects of metal salts on poly(DL, lactide-co-glycolide) polymer hydrolysis. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 34, 531–538.
- Zhao, A., Rodgers, V.G.J., 2006. Using TEM to couple transient protein distribution and release for PLGA microparticles for potential use as vaccine delivery vehicles. J. Control. Release 113, 15–22.

- Zhong, Y., Zhang, L., Ding, A.G., Shenderova, A., Zhu, G., Pei, P., Chen, R.R., Mallery, S.R., Monney, D.J., Schwendeman, S.P., 2007. Rescue of SCID murine ischemic hindlimbs with pH-modified rhbFGF/poly(DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid) implants. J. Control. Release 122, 331–337.
- Zhu, G., Schwendeman, S.P., 2000. Stabilization of proteins encapsulated in cylindrical poly(lactide-co-glycolide) implants: mechanism of stabilization by basic additives. Pharm. Res. 17, 351–357.
- Zidan, A.S., Sammour, O.A., Hammad, M.A., Megrab, N.A., Hussain, M.D., Khan, M.A., Habib, M.J., 2006. Formulation of anastrazole microparticles as biodegradable anticancer drug carriers. AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 7 (article 61).
- Zilberman, M., Grinber, O., 2008. HRP-loaded biodegradable microspheres: effect of copolymer composition and molecular weight on microstructure and release profile. J. Biomater. Appl. 22, 391–407.
- Zolnik, B.S., Burgess, D.J., 2008. Evaluation of in vivo-in vitro release of dexamethasone from PLGA microspheres. J. Control. Release 127, 137-145.
- Zolnik, B.S., Leary, P.E., Burgess, D.J., 2006. Elevated temperature accelerated release testing of PLGA microspheres. J. Control. Release 112, 293–300.